## SECTION ONE

GENETICAL STUDIES OF THE PHENOMENON OF MEIOTIC DRIVE WITH REFERENCE TO THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE.

## SECTION TWO

CYTOGENETICS OF SUPERNUMERARY CHROMOSOMES IN THE LOCAL POPULATIONS OF SHORT-HORNED GRASSHOPPER PHAULACRIDIUM VITATTUM.

A thesis submitted by

ATAN ABDUL AZIZ

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

BACHELOR OF SCIENCE WITH HONOURS DEPARTMENT OF BOTANY UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA HOBART

Altan Air Pebruary, 1968.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is my pleasure to thank my supervisors, Professor W.D. Jackson and Mr. D.S.M. Cheung for their help and encouragement during the year. Mr. Cheung also supplied some slides of <u>P. vitattum</u> for the work on chiasma frequencies. Sincere thanks go to Dr. W.J. Peacock of the C.S.I.R.O. in Camberra for <u>Drosephila</u> stocks.

My thanks also go to the technical staff of the Botany Department for their invaluable assistance.

Throughout the degree, financial help was received from the Commonwealth Government, under the Colombo Plan Scheme.

Finally, I wish to thank Miss E. A. Haley for her assistance and patience throughout the course of this investigation.

A.A.A.

General Summary

This thesis consists of two principal sections. The first deals with studies on the phenomenon of Melotic Drive. This includes a reading thesis, which is largely a review of the current literature on the subject. Results of research on the effect of temperature on Melotic Drive are presented. Two stocks of <u>D. melanogaster</u> showing Segregation Distortion (SD) and Nonrandom Segregation were used.

The second section deals with the cytogenetics of supernumerary (B) chromosomes found in the local population of short-horned grasshopper, <u>Phaulacridium vitattum</u>. The study includes an estimation of the frequency of B chromosome carriers in the female population, distortional segregation of the B with respect to the X chromosomes, and also the influence of B chromosomes on chiasma formation.

#### (111)

## (1v)

## CONTENTS

General Summary

Page

# SECTION ONE

## GENETICAL STUDIES OF THE PHENOMENON OF MEIOTIC DRIVE WITH REFERENCE TO THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE

PART I

READING THESIS: MEIOTIC DRIVE

CRAPTERS IN THE REPORT OF THE

1	Introduction	1
II	Meiotic Drive in Animals 4 8	3
	a. Nonrandom Segregation - In(1) sc'esc	4
÷	b. Segregation-Distortion - SD	20
	c. Deviant Sex-Ratio in Drosophila	18
	d. Recovery-Disrupter - RD	22
	e. Deviant Sex-Ratio in Aedes	26
III	Meiotic Drive in Plants	28
IV	Population Dynamics and Evolutionary Implications	34
v	Conclusion	44

PART II

RESEARCH: EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON MEIOTIC DRIVE

CHAPTERS

I	Introduction	47
II	Materials and Method	49
III	Segregation-Distortion	51
IV	Deviant Sex-Ratio in Association with SD	94
V	Nonrandom Segregation (i) Sensitivity to Temperature (ii) Time of Tem <b>pe</b> rature Sensitivity	57 57 67
VI	Discussion	82
VII	Resume	86
VIII	Literature cited for Section One	87

## SECTION TWO

CYTOGENETICS OF SUPERNUMERARY CHROMOSOMES IN THE LOCAL POPULATIONS OF SHORT-HORNED GRASSHOPPER, <u>PHAULACRIDIUM</u> VITATTUM

CHAPI	TERS	Page
1	Estimation of Frequency of Supernumerary (B) Chromosome Carriers a. Introduction b. Materials and Method c. Results d. Discussion	93 93 94 97 98
II	Distortional Segregation of B chromosome	100
III	Cytogenetic Effects of B Chromosome in P. vitatium - Influence on Chiasma Formation a. Introduction b. Materials and Method c. Results d. Discussion	103 103 105 105 113
IV	Resume	116
V	Literature Cited for Section Two	119

(v)

SECTION ONE

*d*ih

PART I

#### READING THESIS: MEIOTIC DRIVE

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Segregation of alleles in spermatogenesis and oogenesis, is governed by the Laws of Mendelian Inheritance. Thus, a heterozygote for alleles A and a produces gametes of equal frequencies However, there are instances when this of each of the alleles. 1:1 ratio is not observed among the offspring of a heterozygote although it is evident in the gametic population. This deviation does not challenge the Mendelian Laws of Inheritance, but merely confuses them. Sandler and Novitski (1957) proposed the term melotic drive for those instances in which the production of the two classes of gametes are not equal despite normal meiosis "...such a pattern of behaviour will drastically alter frequencies of alleles in a population; where such a force, potentially capable of altering gene frequencies, is a consequence of the mechanics of meiotic divisions, we suggest the name meiotic drive be applied ... " Sandler and Novitski also distinguished meiotic drive from the somewhat similar phenomena of gametic selection and gametic competition. Melotic drive does not depend on the genotype of the gametes or their fitness.

There are many known cases of meiotic drive in natural populations as well as in laboratory stocks in both plants and animals. The first case to be recorded is perhaps the "sex-ratio" phenomenon

## SECTION ONE

GENETICAL STUDIES OF THE PHENOMENON OF MEIOTIC DRIVE WITH REFERENCE TO THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE.

## SECTION TWO

CYTOGENETICS OF SUPERNIMERARY CHROMOSOMES IN THE LOCAL POPULATIONS OF SHORT-HORNED GRASSHOPPER PHAULACRIDIUM VITATTUM.

A thesis submitted by

ATAN ABDUL AZIZ

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

BACHELOR OF SCIENCE WITH HONOURS DEPARTMENT OF BOTANY UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA HOBART

Altan Asir February, 1968.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is my pleasure to thank my supervisors, Professor W.D. Jackson and Mr. D.S.M. Cheung for their help and encouragement during the year. Mr. Cheung also supplied some slides of <u>P. vitattum</u> for the work on chiasma frequencies. Sincere thanks go to Dr. W.J. Peacock of the C.S.I.R.O. in Camberra for <u>Drosephila</u> stocks.

My thanks also go to the technical staff of the Botany Department for their invaluable assistance.

Throughout the degree, financial help was received from the Commonwealth Government, under the Colombo Plan Scheme.

Finally, I wish to thank Miss E. A. Haley for her assistance and patience throughout the course of this investigation.

A.A.A.

General Summary

This thesis consists of two principal sections. The first deals with studies on the phenomenon of Meiotic Drive. This includes a reading thesis, which is largely a review of the current literature on the subject. Results of research on the effect of temperature on Meiotic Drive are presented. Two stocks of <u>D. melanogaster</u> showing Segregation Distortion (SD) and Nonrandom Segregation were used.

The second section deals with the cytogenetics of supernumerary (B) chromosomes found in the local population of short-horned grasshopper, <u>Phaulacridium vitattum</u>. The study includes an estimation of the frequency of B chromosome carriers in the female population, distortional segregation of the B with respect to the X chromosomes, and also the influence of B chromosomes on chiasma formation.

(111)

## (1v)

## CONTENTS

General Summary

Page

# SECTION ONE

## GENETICAL STUDIES OF THE PHENOMENON OF MEIOTIC DRIVE WITH REFERENCE TO THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE

PART I

READING THESIS: MEIOTIC DRIVE

CRAPTERS IN THE REPORT OF THE

1	Introduction	1
II	Meiotic Drive in Animals 4 8	3
	a. Nonrandom Segregation - In(1) sc'esc	4
÷	b. Segregation-Distortion - SD	20
	c. Deviant Sex-Ratio in Drosophila	18
	d. Recovery-Disrupter - RD	22
	e. Deviant Sex-Ratio in Aedes	26
III	Meiotic Drive in Plants	28
IV	Population Dynamics and Evolutionary Implications	34
v	Conclusion	44

PART II

RESEARCH: EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON MEIOTIC DRIVE

CHAPTERS

I	Introduction	47
II	Materials and Method	49
III	Segregation-Distortion	51
IV	Deviant Sex-Ratio in Association with SD	94
V	Nonrandom Segregation (i) Sensitivity to Temperature (ii) Time of Tem <b>pe</b> rature Sensitivity	57 57 67
VI	Discussion	82
VII	Resume	86
VIII	Literature cited for Section One	87

## SECTION TWO

CYTOGENETICS OF SUPERNUMERARY CHROMOSOMES IN THE LOCAL POPULATIONS OF SHORT-HORNED GRASSHOPPER, <u>PHAULACRIDIUM</u> VITATTUM

CHAPI	TERS	Page
1	Estimation of Frequency of Supernumerary (B) Chromosome Carriers a. Introduction b. Materials and Method c. Results d. Discussion	93 93 94 97 98
II	Distortional Segregation of B chromosome	100
III	Cytogenetic Effects of B Chromosome in P. vitatium - Influence on Chiasma Formation a. Introduction b. Materials and Method c. Results d. Discussion	103 103 105 105 113
IV	Resume	116
V	Literature Cited for Section Two	119

(v)

SECTION ONE

*d*ih

PART I

#### READING THESIS: MEIOTIC DRIVE

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Segregation of alleles in spermatogenesis and oogenesis, is governed by the Laws of Mendelian Inheritance. Thus, a heterozygote for alleles A and a produces gametes of equal frequencies However, there are instances when this of each of the alleles. 1:1 ratio is not observed among the offspring of a heterozygote although it is evident in the gametic population. This deviation does not challenge the Mendelian Laws of Inheritance, but merely confuses them. Sandler and Novitski (1957) proposed the term melotic drive for those instances in which the production of the two classes of gametes are not equal despite normal meiosis "...such a pattern of behaviour will drastically alter frequencies of alleles in a population; where such a force, potentially capable of altering gene frequencies, is a consequence of the mechanics of meiotic divisions, we suggest the name meiotic drive be applied ... " Sandler and Novitski also distinguished meiotic drive from the somewhat similar phenomena of gametic selection and gametic competition. Melotic drive does not depend on the genotype of the gametes or their fitness.

There are many known cases of meiotic drive in natural populations as well as in laboratory stocks in both plants and animals. The first case to be recorded is perhaps the "sex-ratio" phenomenon

in <u>D</u>. <u>obscura</u> by Gershenson (1928). He observed that in certain crosses of males carrying a special X chromosome found in wild populations, the number of females recovered among the progeny far exceeded the number of males. This, as Gershenson showed, was not due to zygotic death. The abnormal behaviour of the X chromosome was due to certain factor(s) present on the chromosome. This type of meiotic drive is referred to as genic meiotic drive, since "genes" are involved.

In most instances, the degree of melotic drive ranges from 60% to 100%. It is generally believed that this variation is dependent to a large extent on the action of modifier genes.

l'a kni

#### II. MELOTIC DRIVE IN ANIMALS

Most known cases of meiotic drive are found in animals for no apparent reason. In <u>Drosophila</u>, meiotic drive is mostly confined to the male. The only known case in <u>Drosophila</u> female, is the preferential recovery of the physically shorter member of a heteromorphic (structually different) pair of chromosomes in the egg nucleus. This phenomenon, known as "nonrandom disjunction", is therefore a chromosomal meiotic drive and no specific genetic factors are known to be involved. Examples are found in females heterozygons for aberrations such as deficiencies (Novitski 1951), translocation (Zimmering 1955) and in females having attached-X chromosomes (Weltman 1954) and other compound chromosomes (Novitski and Sandler 1956).

In <u>Drosophila</u> males, a number of different types of meiotic drive are known viz. nonrandom segregation, segregation-distortion, deviant sex-ratio and recovery disrupter. Recently, sex-ratio condition has been found to exist in wild populations of the mosquito <u>Aedes aegypti</u>. The genetics of these cases in <u>Drosophila</u> and <u>Aedes</u> males will be discussed in considerable detail in the following pages.

## a. NONRANDOM SEGREGATION - In (1) ac<sup>4</sup>-ac<sup>8</sup>

The first case to be considered is Nonrandom Segregation in <u>Drosophila melanogaster</u> males with a deficient In (1)  $sc^4$ -  $sc^8$  X chromosome and a normal Y.

This inversion X chromosome is derived from two X chromosomes a) In (1) sc<sup>4</sup>, a long inversion of the X with most of the basal heterochromatin including the locus bb and Muller's block A located proximally and b) In (1) se<sup>8</sup>, also a long inversion of the X with a large portion of the basal heterochromatin distally located. Their distal breakpoints are similar and their proximal breakpoints in the basal heterochromatin are such that the crossover product is deficient for the 'bobbed' (bb) region and also the Muller's block A heterochromatin portion (Fig. a). This chromosome, although only about 2/3 as long as a normal X chromosome physically, is nearly similar to the latter in genetic length. Included in the deficiency are regions which are normally involved in pairing with the Y chromosome ('collochores' of Cooper, 1959). Thus males with the inversion are expected to produce non-disjunctional gametes, nullo (no X or Y) and XY. This was verified by Sandler and Braver (1954) who found a high percentage of nullo and XY gametes. However, the proportions of complementary classes within disjunctional (X and Y) and nondisjunctional (nullo and XY) gametes were not equal. X and 0 were in excess of Y and XY respectively. Morgan, Bridges and Sturtevant (1925) suggested chromosome loss to be responsible for the unequal



Figure a. Diagram showing the inversions sc<sup>4</sup> and sc<sup>8</sup> and the crossover product inversion sc<sup>4</sup> sc<sup>8</sup>. The centromere is shown as a circle and the crossover region at X. The extent of the inversion in each X chromosome is indicated by broken lines (modified after Swanson, 1957).

frequencies of recovery of exceptional males and exceptional females in <u>D</u>. <u>melanogaster</u>. They believed that"...primary non-disjunction is initiated by some unusual local difference in consequence of which the synapsed X's lag upon the reduction spindle and separate from each other only with difficulty." It was argued by Sandler and Braver that this peculiar result of unequal frequencies in the case of  $In(i) sc^4$ -  $sc^8$  was due to meiotic loss at anaphase I of the X and Y chromosomes which were unpaired at metaphase I. This loss amounted to nearly 42% in the Y and about 0.3% (not significantly

different from 0) in the X chromosome.

The idea of meiotic loss of the Y chromosome was further investigated by Zimmering (1963) who showed that makes carrying In(1) sc<sup>4</sup> sc<sup>8</sup> X/Y which had been raised at a lower temperature at  $18^{\circ}$ C rather than at  $26^{\circ}$ C, produced gametes of X and Y, and O and XY in frequencies approaching equality. He suggested that this was due to a decrease in meiotic loss of the Y chromosome at the lower temperature. He also obtained parallel results when he employed a specially constructed Y chromosome (an attached Y-partial X chromosome,  $X^{P}Y^{L_*}Y^{S}$ ). This chromosome had the base of the X and both arms of the Y and it was univalent in prophase, since it lacked a homologue. Zimmering inferred from this that (very obviously) the different rate of loss of the Y at the different temperatures is not due to synapsis. He thus suggested that a Y chromosome underwent a high or low rate of meiotic loss and this loss was independent of synapsis.

Novitski and Sandler (1957) made a remarkable deduction from their experimental analysis. They concluded that not all sperms of <u>Drosophila</u> are functional. Although working with males carrying the translocation T  $(1,4)B^S$ , Novitski and Sandler speculated that this condition was not only limited to the translocation stock, but could be generally true in all <u>Drosophila</u> males, being revealed only when certain experimental conditions were achieved. However, this finding was not taken seriously since some argued that even enenploid

eggs and sperms from translocation heterozygotes were known to function irrespective of their chromosomal contents. Despite this. the idea that not all sperms are functional in Drosophila, has been successfully interpreted and consequently it has effected a more positive understanding of the mechanism involved in the peculiar phenomenon exhibited by the In(i)  $sc^4 - sc^8 X/Y$  males. Peacock (1965) is mainly responsible for this. Studying the cytogenetics of the males, he found that there was no meiotic loss of the Y The sc4- sc8 X was often found to be incapable of chromosomes. synapsis with its Y homologue at M I. The probability of synapsis seemed to be dependent upon the particular Y chromosome present, the background genotype and external factors such as culture temperature. This failure to synapse resulted in the formation of non-From his observations, Peacock inferred disjunctional gametes. that the frequency of synapsis at M I equalled the frequency of A I disjunction and that the frequency of failure of synapse equalled that of non-disjunction.

When the X and Y failed to synapse, their anaphase movement was highly non-random; usually both moved toward the same pole. The frequencies of complementary classes in both disjunctional and nondisjunctional gametes were equal at the end of meiosis, typifying a normal meiotic process. Each sperm bundle was found to contain 64 normal sperms and no significant zygotic death was observed. Genetic determinations of the frequencies of non-disjunctional gametes were in agreement with those from cytological determinations.

Non-disjunctional gametes were found to vary over a wide range from 40% to 6%. Despite all these findings which showed normal meiotic and post-meiotic processes taking place, there was still a significant difference in the frequencies of complementary classes. These frequencies were relatively constant in the various crosses in the same physical environment and appeared to be independent of the amount of non-disjunction.

In the light of these observations, Peacock proposed that there is preferential segregation of unpaired X and Y chromosomes, both are usually included in the non-functional poles of Novitski and Sandler. For an XY gamete to function, both X and Y chromosomes must be included in a functional pole. This explains the great excess of nullo gametes over XY gametes. Preferential segregation into functional gametes also accounts for the ratio of X to Y in disjunctional gametes. The X chromosome has a greater probability of being orientated toward the functional pole than has the Y when both chromosomes are associated in a bivalent. This explanation is also valid in accounting for the results obtained by Zimmering (1963). At the lower temperature, therefore, the movements of paired and unpaired chromosomes were random.

Although it is known that the X is preferentially segregated toward the functional pole and that the X and the Y when unpaired are preferentially segregated toward the non-functional pole, the actual mechanism of these processes including factors governing the

movement of these chromosomes at anaphase is still unknown. Nevertheless, Peacock has shown that melosis involving the In(i)  $\operatorname{sc}^4$ -  $\operatorname{sc}^8$  X/Y is strictly normal and this is sufficient evidence for the fact that this non-random segregation of X and Y chromosome is an example of meiotic drive.

dille

#### b. SECREGATION-DISTORTION - SD

The phenomenon of Segregation-distortion in <u>Drosophila</u> first discovered in wild populations in 1956, is another case of meiotic drive. It is due to a locus referred to as Segregation-distorter (designated S.D.), located near the centromere in the right arm of chromosome II. The genetics and nature of S.D. have been studied in the laboratory by Sandler et al (1959) and Sandler & Hiraisumi (1959, 1960a).

The S.D. bearing chromosome is recovered more often than its homologue which carries the SD<sup>+</sup>. In many stocks, the value of k i.e. the proportion of SD bearing flies in total recovered offsprings, is quite constant and has a value of 0.95. The phenomenon, however, takes place only in heterozygous males (SD/SD<sup>+</sup>); homozygous SD males and all SD females whether homozygous or heterozygous do not exhibit the phenomenon. It appears that synapsis between the SD locus with its homologue SD<sup>+</sup> is an essential prerequisite for segregation-distortion. This is believed to be true since structural abnormality in the SD<sup>+</sup> bearing chromosome in the SD region reduces segregation-distortion (in some cases, is usually eliminated altogether). Thus, when SD is heterozygous with a structurally rearranged homologue, such as the Curly inversion, In (2LR)Cy, distortion is greatly suppressed.

The fact that no distortion or sterility is observed when SD bearing chromosomes are made homozygous in males, suggests that an

SD bearing chromosome is insensitive to the action of another SD element. Possibly, the SD elements act on each other with the same degree such that the net effect is zero, and thus no segregationdistortion.

All the SD bearing chromosomes collected from natural populations, contain an inversion in the right arm of chromosome II which causes a reduction in crossing over in that arm (crossing over in the left arm. IIL. is normal). However, occasional recombinations occur between on (cinnebar) and by (brown) loci in the IIR (right arm of chromosome II). Such recombinants that contain the SD locus have varying k values among test males. When the variation in k values is very large, the recombinants are classified as "unstable", and when it is small, the recombinants are classified as "semiatable". The original SD line is termed "stable" line. difference in stability between any two lines is, however, not distinct. Experiments involving selection of offsprings of stable, unstable and semi-stable parants for k values, revealed that neither semistable nor unstable GD line can be made stable merely by selection. Nowever, conversion of semistable to unstable is possible (although the reverse is not) when the semistable SD line is passed through both males and females. The fact that the conversion is possible through males suggests that it does not require crossing over. Consequently, the semistable SD line does not differ from the unstable SD element by a modifier. Since neither semistable nor unstable can be made stable or vice-versa, it is believed that the

éin.

stable SD element is different from its unstable and semistable counterparts by merely a single modifier. The presence of this modifier renders the SD line stable and in its absence, the SD is either comistable or unstable.

Sandler and Hiraizumi (1960a) proposed that (through evidence from recombination experiments involving on and bw loci) this stabilising modifier, designated St(SD), must be located at the tip of the right arm of the second chromosome (IIR). St(SD) is found to be capable of completely stabilising semistable SD lines but not unstable lines, although in the latter case, it increases the distorting action. Losing St(SD) by recombinants, convert them first into semistable and then into the unstable state sponteneously.

The structure of SD region was studied by Sandler and Mireizumi (1960b). They proposed that the SD locus lies between en and pr (purple) loci with the SD locus very close to the SD is very closely linked to a locus termed Activator centromere. of SD designated Ac(SD) which is located to its right. Hiralzuni and Nakazima (1967) found that this Ac (SD) is 0.5-1.0 unit away from the SD locus (Fig. b). Both these elements thus lie in a very small chromosomal segment (aberration). This chromosomal aberration causes a suppression in crossing over in the SD region. When crossing over does take place, the rare recombinant SD Ac(SD)\* produces a weak distorting effect with k averaging a value of about 0.8. The other recombinants SD<sup>\*</sup>Ac (SD) shows no distorting effect at all. These recombinants are therefore partially and wholly

insensitive to the action of SD. Based on these rare recombinants and their non-distorting nature, it is concluded that the Ac(SD) is necessary for SD to operate and that they must be present in the coupling state with SD.



Figure b. A diagram showing the SD region. The heavy lines show homologous regions within SD region; the wavy line is the aberrant segment responsible for the reduction in crossing over and for insensitivity of the original SD-bearing chromosome, and a, b, and c are crossover regions between pr and cn (after Sandler and Hiraizumi 1960b).

#### Conditional-distortion

As mentioned earlier, <u>Drosophils</u> females do not play any part in segregation-distortion. However, an interesting phenomenon is associated with them with respect to SD. It is found that in certain lines, if the SD element is inherited from a female parent, then in a fraction of FI male sibships, only one half of the heterozygous sons produce segregation-distortion. The other half produce normal segregation. In the F2, irrespective of whether or

not their father showed segregation-distortion, all males show abnormal ratio. Sandler and Hiraizumi (1959) termed this phenomenon "Conditional distortion". And females which produce heterozygous sons of which only half exhibit segregation-distortion, are referred to as being "conditioned". Sandler and Hiraizumi (1961a) made further studies on this phenomenon and also proposed an explanation to its cause. It is thought that in males carrying SD element, the element causes the X chromosome to be induced into a specific modifier. This specific induction seems to be stable and comes about without physical contact between SD element and the induced modifier of the X. The induced X chromosome in turn suppresses the action of SD. Hence a conditioned female (which is produced by a normal female and SD male receives one induced X chromosome from her father; her other X is normal. Half her sons therefore receive an induced X and thus these males produce normal segregation ratios. When both types of soms are crossed to normal females, all male offsprings produced will receive a normal X from the normal mother and hence all will show segregation-distortion. Nowever, the exact nature of the proposed conditioned state is unknown.

#### Cytogenetic model of S.D.

The cytogenetic basis of segregation distortion was investigated by Sandler et al (1959) who worked on the assumption that the  $SD^+$  had a lethal affect and as such would be eliminated during meiosis by a special mechanism. They postulated that during synapsis of SD

and SD<sup>+</sup>-bearing chromosomes at prophase I, the SD element induces a misreplication (breakage) of the SD<sup>+</sup> bearing chromosome in a region opposite the SD. This break becomes a sister-strand fusion which at anaphase II produces a chromatid bridge. The chromatid bridge and its subsequent fragments following breakage will be duly eliminated (Fig. c).



Figure c. A diagramatic model to account for segregationdistortion, showing the elimination of the SD bearing chromosome (Sandler et al 1959).

This hypothesis was supported by some preliminary cytological observations which were by no means conclusive. Sandler et al (1959) reported that bridges and dicentrics were consistently observed at metaphase II but no acentrics were reported seen which was quite unusual. Nevertheless, data supporting the breakage model were available from studies by Crow et al (1962) and Hiraizumi (1962).

The breakdown model hypothesis was short-lived, due to work by Peacock and Erickson (1965) who found that cytological examination revealed no evidence for the validity of the hypothesis. Peacock and Erickson failed to observe the dicentric loops which Sandler and colleague consistently found. Instead, the SD system mechanism paralleled that of the nonrandom segregation of In (i) sc $^4$  sc $^8$  in that melosis was normal, Studies on sperm bundles, maturation, transfer and storage did not show any difference between SD and SD<sup>T</sup>. Peacock and Erickson thus proposed that segregation-distortion is due to preferential segregation of the SD-bearing chromosome into the functional pole and thus leaving the homologous SD<sup>+</sup> bearing chromosome to be included in the nonfunctional pole because the SD bearing chromosome always separates reductionally from SD bearing chromosome at first division and since nearly all functional gametes contain SD bearing chromosome (k 0.996 in most instances). It is reasonable to conclude therefore that one pole at first meiotic division produces two functional sperms while the other produces two non-functional It follows that there must be some special mechanism sperms. involved, probably an orientation of the SD/SD<sup>\*</sup> bivalent at anaphase I such that the SD complement, in this orientation, has a greater probability of going toward the functional pole than has the  $\mathrm{SD}^+$ complement. However, nothing more is known about this orientation.

#### Sex-ratio in association with 3D

Novitski and Ehrlich (1966) reported that when the non-SD chromosomes are involved in a Y translocation, the action of SD may be drastically modified or even reversed. They also reported that

severe suppression of SD action might also take place if the SD heterozygous males carry attached  $\overline{XY}$  X chromosome. This is in fact a modification of SD action by a non homologue. Sandler and Hiraizumi (1961) also realised similar observations when they studied conditional segregation in <u>Drosophila</u>. Hiraizumi and Nakazima (1967) also observed the association of SD with non-homologues. They found that SD heterozygous males showed slight but consistent sex-ratio deviation. When SD/SD<sup>+</sup> males were mated to the standard test cubw females, in the  $F_1$ , more females were recovered among the small cubw progeny, while more males were recovered among the large SD progeny. However, SD/SD<sup>+</sup> females did not show similar results.

Miraizumi and Nakazima explained this non-random assortment between the second and the sex-chromosomes in the light of the melotic mechanisms of the SD and sex-ratio as proposed by Peacock and Erickson (1965) and Novitski et al (1965). The SD locus is believed to have some sort of homology with some parts of the X in such a way that between them there is competition to reach the functional pole. When SD goes to the functional pole, the probability of the X reaching the same pole is reduced. Similarly, when the X chromosome reaches the functional pole, the probability of the SD reaching the same pole is in turn reduced. Both Ac(SD) and St(SD) seem to "inactivate" the X chromosomes by reducing the latter's probability of reaching the functional pole.

#### c. DEVIANT SEX-RATIO IN DROSOPHILA

1

Sex-ratio condition i.e. differential recovery of sex, has been studied in a number of species of <u>Drosophila</u> as in <u>D</u>. <u>obscura</u> by Gershenson (1928). Sturtevant and Dobzhansky (1936) found a wide distribution of sex-ratio in wild populations of <u>D</u>. <u>obscura</u> group which include <u>D</u>. <u>affinis</u>, <u>D</u>. <u>athabasca</u>, and <u>D</u>. <u>astecs</u>. In all these three species, the offsprings of sex-ratio males consist of mainly daughters and few or no sons, regardless of the genetic constitution of the female parents. Novitski (1947) working with <u>D</u>. <u>affinis</u> also found the same phenomenon, In addition, he also found in the same species a recessive gene which reversed the effect, giving an excess of male progeny or male sex-ratio. Female sexratio has also been found in <u>D</u>. <u>paramelanica</u> (Stalker 1960) and <u>D</u>. <u>simulans</u> (Faulhaber 1967).

In females, sex-ratio is due to males heterozygous for an X chromosome carrying the sex-ratio "gene" which produce an excess of X-bearing sperms and very few Y-bearing ones. As a result, more females are recovered in the progeny. Sturtevant and Dobzhansky (1936) made cytological studies of sex-ratio in <u>Drosophila</u> <u>pseudoobscura</u> in an attempt to account for the abnormal mechanism involved. They suggested that at the first meiotic division the X chromosome in sex-ratio male undergoes an extra replication thus forming four X chromatids. These are then distributed among the four spermatids and hence all sperms are X-bearing. The Y chromosome degenerates at the first division and is eliminated in subsequent

meiotic stages.

Stalker (1961) who studied sex-ratio in D. paramelanica found that in the natural habitats in which the species occurred, two forms were identified, the Northern-type and the Southern-type. The Northern-type sex-ratio could be suppressed by Southern-type Y chromosomes but not by its own type Y while the Southern type was not suppressible by either type Y chromosome. Both types of sexratio were, however, suppressible by a less effective suppressor This system of suppressors were believed to be autosomal. system. The sex-ratio condition is due to a "gene" designated or which is located on the X chromosome. Further studies by Stalker showed that this ar gene is related to a system of inversions in a fairly complex menner, similar to the situation reported by Sturtevant and Novitski (1941) in D. melanica and by Darlington and Dobshansky (1942) In D. paramelanica, the sex-ratio X chromosome in D. pseudoobscura. differs from the "Standard" by having at least two inversions (A and B) in the left arm and two or three (C and BA complex) in the right The two inversions A and B in the left arm show rare (Fig. d).



Figure d. Sex-ratio X chromosome of <u>D. paramelanica</u> showing multiple inversions (Stalker 1961).

crossing over with each other and with the inversion C of the base of the right arm. Crossing over may also occur between inversions C and the BA complex. Inversions A and B are very close together in the BA complex and crossing over between them has not been observed.

Recombination experiments involving these inversions show that sex-ratio X chromosomes of both Northern and Southern-types carrying inversions BA complex or C as well as BA complex in the right arm, do retain the sem-ratio condition. This suggests that the sr gene is in fact located in the right arm of the X in this region of BA The suppressibility of Northern-type sex-ratio X by a complex. Southern-type Y is found to be associated with inversions A and B Suppression of sex-ratio in the Southern-type in the left arm. can be achieved by replacements of the left arm of Southern-type sex-ratio X by "standard" left arm. The Southern-type can thus be suppressed by its own type Y; in other words it is transferred into This therefore suggests that the difference between a Northern-type, the two types lies on the genetic characteristics of the left (autosomally derived) arm of the X. However, any similar replacement in the left arm of a Northern-type will suppress the sexratio trait completely. Thus, any breakdown in the inversion system would deprive the X chromosome of melotic drive advantage. This is why, in natural wild populations of the species, such signs of breakdown of the system which is reflected by the presence of recombinants are very rare.

In <u>D</u>. <u>simulans</u>, the condition of sex-ratio is due to a recessive factor (sxr) located between hairless (H) and petit (pe) on chromosome II. Time-temperature sensitivity experiments show that the primary action of this autosomal recessive factor starts prior to meiosis, the product of which interacts with a Y chromosome factor during spermiogenesis. As in <u>D</u>. <u>pseuloobscura</u>, primary non-disjunction also occurs in <u>D</u>. <u>simulans</u>. The XO males produced by non-disjunction do not show the morphological abnormalities of spermatids which are characteristic of the XY sex-ratio males (some spermatids in XY sex-ratio males have undeveloped heads). This suggests that the abnormal sperm head development apparently requires the presence of the Y chromosome (Faulhaber 1967).

### Cytogenetic Basis of sex-ratio

The model proposed by Sturtevant and Dobshansky to account for sex-ratio in <u>Drosophila</u> has been found to be incorrect. The X chromosome has not been observed to undergo an entra replication at first prophase, although such a unique situation does in fact occur in the coccid <u>Llaveilla</u> (Huges-Schrader 1940). Instead, Novitski et al (1965) found that the X chromosome in <u>D. pseudoobscura</u> is preferentially segregated into the functional pole at anaphase I. The Y chromosome is usually included in the non-functional pole ensuring that all progeny are females. Parallel results are also observed in cytological analysis of a related species, <u>D. athabasca</u>.

#### d. <u>RECOVERY-DISRUPTER - RD</u>

e de la

From population cages of D. melanogaster (Wallace 1956), which had been subjected to low intensity irradiation for about 200 generations, two lines were obtained in which the chromosomes derived from the irradiated population were recovered in more than half of Novitski and Hanks (1961). One of them contained the offsprings, an irradiated chromosome II, which was found in the F, of heterozygous male parents with frequencies ranging from 53% to 80%. This deviation persisted for 6 consequetic generations. But the line is neglected and consequently lost. The other line involved an irradiated X chromosome. When present in a parental male, it appeared in 56% to 64% of his offsprings. This line was inbred for about 20 generations, at the end of which the mean recovery of the X chromosome was found to be a constant, approximating 67%. This deviation in sex-ratio was not simply due to differential mortality of the male progeny caused by the irradiated X chromosome. This was shown by crossing such males (those producing differential sexratio) to attached-X females. In such a cross, the transmission of the irradiated X of the father was effected through his sons only. The progeny of this cross were found to contain significantly more males than females, reflecting that the irradiated X chromosome was recovered in excess of the Y, and more significantly, that it was in the presence of the irradiated X chromosome that the deviation in sex-ratio was observed. This new inbred line and its three components, autosomes, X and Y were referred to as Recovery Disrupter,

designated RD. X<sup>a</sup> and Y<sup>a</sup> were symbols for RD X and RD Y chromosomes respectively, and A<sup>a</sup> represented most of the RD autosomes, Hanks (1964). Previously, the line was named "29 G" by Hanks (1961) and Erickson and Hanks (1961). The phenomenon, due to some pre-zygotic mechanism, manifested itself only in males.

Hanks (1964) studied the nature of this Recovery Disrupter and made the following findings. Each of the three components ( $X^{a}$ ,  $Y^{a}$  and  $A^{a}$ ) has a definite influence of recovery of sex chromosomes. Y chromosomes are somewhat different in their recovery of sex chromsomes effect. Since  $A^{a}$  influences sex chromosome recovery rate, there must be certain mechanism present which cause this interchromosomal effect. Hanks believed that the 67% recovery of XY is not the effect of any single RD factor (i.e.  $X^{a}$  or  $Y^{a}$  or  $A^{a}$ ) but is in fact due to the interaction of all three components whose combined effect is generally multiplicative. The active site on the  $X^{a}$  chromosome is believed to be located between car (carnation) and su-f (suppressor of forked) near the euchromatic-heterochromatic junction. Recovery-disrupter effect is enhanced by modifiers which are present on the other chromosomes of the complement.

#### Cytogenetic model for Recovery-disrupter

The mechanism of RD action was studied by Erickson (1964). Unlike the three previous cases of meiotic drive i.e. nonrandom segregation, segregation-distortion and sex-ratio, the phenomenon of Recovery-disrupter does not involve preferential segregation of chromosomes. Cytological observations revealed that it involves a
depression in the recovery of the Y chromosome, somewhat similar to the original model proposed by Sandier et al (1959) to account for SD. Erickson proposed that there is an action against the Y chromosome during an early stage, even before anaphase I. Times temperature sensitivity experiments by Erickson and Manks (1951) show that the definitive action occurs at prophase I. Occasionally, the Y chromosoma breaks, usually in the long arm and this Y fragment remains on the spindle at anaphase I. The exact mechanism involved is not fully understood. It is speculated that irradiation causes a rearrangement in the X heterochromatin. At prophase I, this X synapses with the Y in a manner such that the rearranged X hetero. chromatin is involved in pairing with the long arm of the Y. A small deletion the X heterochromatin would effect a "hump" in the Y; a small insertional translocation or a duplication of a segment would cause stretching of the Y in the corresponding region; and an inversion of the X would produce a loop in the Y which would cause some stress in the chromatids. All these three cases would cause a stretching or a loosening of coils. This would occasionally break at anaphase I but more frequently, the break takes place at anaphase II. During the second meiotic division, these Y fragments protrude from the nucleus or get isolated in the cytoplasmic contents of the spermatide. These fragments lead to lethal action during spermiogenesis. Observations of sparm bundles showed that approximately 48 sperms were countable as compared to 64 in normal control sperm bundles.

1000

RD activity.

Aller

Experiments using  $X^4 Y^1 Y^2$  males, showed that the normal sexratio associated with RD was obtained when segregation of  $X^4$  with  $Y^1 Y^2$  took place. Here, R 50% (where R = the recovery value, defined as the percentage of females). When segregation between  $X^4 Y^1$  with  $Y^2$  or  $Y^4 Y^2$  with  $Y^1$  occurred, a deviant sex-ration was also observed. But in this latter case, the sex-ratio was reversed i.e. more males were found in the progeny (R 50%). These observations could be accounted for by assuming that in the latter case, some of the  $X^4 Y^1$  and  $X^4 Y^2$  gametes were lethal. This could be, most likely, due to the "action" against the  $Y^1$  and  $Y^2$  in the respective gametes by the  $X^4$ , rendering lethality to these gametes. The solitary Y bearing chromosome was not affected.

## e. DEVIANT SEX-RATIO IN AEDES

In the mosquito Aedes accypti, sex is determined by a single gene or a small chromosomal segment, designated m. Females are homogemetic, mm and males are heterogemetic, Mm. Normal segregation in males would therefore produce equal numbers of M and m gamates. Christopher (1960) reported that males were found to be in excess of females, with frequencies ranging from 55% to 65%. This high male ratio is due to a hereditary factor transmitted by males (Craig, Hickey and Van de Hay 1960). Males which produce high male ratios, do so regardless of the genotype of the females they are crossed to. Gametic selection is ruled out and the phenomenon is referred to as male-producing or MP. This phenomenon is another example of meiotic drive. Hickey and Craig (1966) did much to throw light on the nature and genetic basis of this male-producing phenomenon. The male-producing factor is designated Distorter (D) and its absence as d. This factor acts directly at the locus for sexdetermination, m; thus the symbol D or d is written as superscript of M or m.

MP phenomenon is found to be exhibited only by males which are  $Mm^d$ . The origin of either chromosome  $M^D$  or  $m^d$ , (whether transmitted by male parent or female parent) is immaterial. Thus MP can be lost and recovered in sequential generations. The reciprocal genotype  $M^dm^D$  and the other two possibilities  $M^Dm^D$  and  $M^dm^d$ , all give the normal 1:1 ratio. MP is not observable in females.

Distorter (D) seems to have no distortion effect on autosomes of the complement, hence chromosomes 2 and 3 in M<sup>D</sup>m<sup>d</sup> males segregate normally. However, all loci on sex-linkage group 4 show segregation typical of MP. Hickey and Graig were able to select MP males which produced distortion as high as 85% to 90%. Because of the deviant segregation of loci on the sex-lineage group, it is believed that the distorter is probably located within the sex-linkage group itself, somewhere to the right of red eye (re). However, its precise location is yet to be determined.

Based on the varying levels of male ratios observed, there are two kinds of MP males (1) those that produce 0 to 9% females and (2) those that produce 20 to 37% females. This difference in distorter action has not yet been accounted for in terms of modifier systems sensitivity. Unlike the SD system, increase in age of an MP male does not alter sex-rationsmong its progeny. Varying temperatures have a similar effect on MP condition.

The mechanism of action of distorter is still unknown. However, it has been shown that relatively few female-bearing gamates from MP males succeed in fertilising eggs, and that MP males deplete their sperm earlier than do normal males. This could either be due to meiotic loss of the m-bearing chromosome or to the m-bearing element being preferentially segregated toward the non-functional pole of meiotic anaphase I (if there is such a thing as a non-functional pole in <u>Aedes aegypti</u> males).

(1))))

# III. MEIOTIC DRIVE IN PLANTS

Unlike in animals, only a few cases of meiotic drive in plants are known to this date. Perhaps the most significant of these is the case of preferential segregation of certain chromosomes in <u>Zea</u> <u>mays</u>, since it is a genuine case of drive and that the mechanism of cytogenatic deviation involved is well understood.

An abnormal chromosome 10 was first discovered by Longley (1938) who was studying the karyotype of a number of maize strains of the North-American Indians. This chromosome designated (K10) differs from the normal chromosome homologue (k10) by a variation in chromosome pattern by the presence of a large knob and euchromatin on one end of its long arm. These extra regions have not been found to have homologous regions elsewhere in the maize genome. When either of these chromosomes is studied in a homozygous state, segregation is normal with respect to Mendelian ratios for any loci on this However, Rhoades (1942) reported that plants heterochromosome. zygous for the two chromosomes (K10/k10) produced approximately 70% of the megaspores carrying the abnormal K10 chromosome. This deviation from the 1:1 ratio was not due to any particular gene but found to be influenced by the knobbed region. Such deviant segregation was also found to occur for both chromosomes 6 and 9 in K10/k10 plants, if the homologues were different in their knob constitution (Longley 1945). Hence in chromosome 9, which has a knob in the short arm, and also the genes C, Sh and Wx with C nearest the distal

knob and Wx nearest the centromere, the gene C gives maximum degree of segregation. Wx gives the least segregation while Sh gives segregation value mid-way between C and Wx. These results are in agreement with the preferential segregation of the knobbed chromosome, that genes closest to the knobbed region undergo the greatest degree of segregation.

The chromosome K10, in addition to showing abnormal segregation, also shows other cytogenetic effects. It is found that it effects an increase in crossing over and hence recombination (Rhoades and Dampsey 1957, Kikudome 1959). Rhoades and Dampsey (1966) reported that the increase in recombination was probably due to the chromosome K10 inducing very intimate synapsis. Rhoades and Dampsey also reported that preferential segregation was not confined only to chromosomes 10, 6 and 9, but also occurred in all the chromosomes in the complement if they were beteromorphic pairs and the chromosome K10 was also present.

The size of the knob seems to have an influence on abnormal segregation. Kikudome (1959) found that the recovery of the allele Wd ranges from 68.8% in KlO/klO.  $K^{2}9/k9$  plants to 59.1% in KlO/klO  $K^{5}9/k9$  plants. The  $K^{2}9$  is a much larger terminal knob relative to the smaller  $K^{5}9$ . These results are true when equal recombination takes place between Wd and Wx loci and equal numbers of heteromorphic dyads are formed. This, therefore, shows that the greater the knob is, the greater is the degree of preferential segregation.

Perhaps the most interesting effect the chromosome K10 has is that it induces the formation of "neocentromeres" during the anaphase of the first melotic division (Rhoades and Vilkomerson 1942) Rhoades 1952). This effect of the chromosome K10 forms the basis of the mechanism of preferential segregation. Rhoades 1952 investigated the role of the neocentromeres in maize homosygous for K10 during melosis. He found that at MI, when bivalents are coorientated on the spindle, certain chromosomes extend chromosomal fibres from their distal ends. These neocentric regions (normally such chromosomal fibres are produced only at the true centromere) move poleward in advance to the true centromere, This direct relationship between the precocious activities at AI and the heterochromatin knobs are also observed in the second melotic division.

In the light of these observations, Rhoades (1952) proposed a cytogenetic model in an attempt to account for the preferential segregation in K10 in maize. Briefly, the two spindles of the second meiotic division of the megaspore mother cell in maize are arranged The basal megaspore develops into the female gametophyte in tandem. while the remaining three degenerate and are thus lost. In maize heterozygous for knobbed and knobless homologues, one arm of some of the disjoining dyads at AI possesses precociously acting chromosomal fibres which are absent in the homologous arm, Neocentromeres are formed from the knobbed arms while none are formed from the knoblass These neocentric regions move toward the pole in advance to arms. the true centric regions. In a dyad consisting of one knobbed and

1000

one knobless chromatid, the knobless chromatid faces the equatorial plate while the knobbed chromatin lies closer to the If this orientation persists until the second metaphase such pole. that the knobbed chromatids face the two terminal (outside) poles and the knobless chromatids face the inner poles, then only knobbed chromatins are recovered in the terminal poles, one of which is the functional basal megaspore. In the case of heterozygote K10/k10, preferential segregation can only occur when a crossover takes place between the knob and the true centric region. If no crossover takes place, then segregation is essentially 1:1. Crossing over between the knob and the true centromere to produce heteromorphic dyads is an essential qualification for preferential segregation. Preferential segregation is not influenced by the number of exchanges; single and double croseovers give equal degree of preferential If this hypothesis is valid, then the determining segregation. factor of preferential segregation is the orientation of the disjoining dyad at AI. The presence or absence of neocentric formation at MII has no effect since orientation has already been established at AL. This point is confirmed by studies on deficient dyads where random segregation at MII is indicated for heteromorphic dyads in which the deficient knobbed chromatid comes from a di-centric bridge. Employing K10/k10 heterozygous for several paracentric inversions, Rhoades (1952) found that at AI, a chromatid which is knobbed and acentric formed as a result of a single c.o. shows neocentric activity. However, the same chromatid fails to show any neocentric



Figure e. Diagram showing preferential segregation of a knobbed chromosome K10 into the functional basal megaspore in <u>Sea mays</u>.

activity at AII and thus lies on the equator. Rhoades postulated that the true centromere produces a substance (S) which is essential for the formation of chromosomal fibres and in KlO plants, this substance moves along the chromatid arm towards the neocentromere. This substance is insufficient in quantity at AII, since it is being used up at AI.

### IV. POPULATION DYNAMICS AND EVOLUTIONARY IMPLICATIONS

Gershenson (1928) who first realised the phenomenon of sexratio speculated that since more X-bearing sperms than Y-bearing ones were functioning in the fertilisation of eggs, the sex-ratio X chromosome would increase in the population and in doing so, would replace the normal X completely. Should this happen, the species would be in danger of extinction because of the scarcity of males. This speculation is of course logical but it does not eventuate in wild populations due to the complexity of genetic systems in action.

As expected, a locus, a chromosomal segment or a whole chromosome which exhibits meiotic drive, has an advantage by virtue of its disproportionate presence in gametes contributing to each generation, and as such can increase in frequency in a population, This is true even if the driven element is associated with genes which impart an effect of reducing the fitness of the organism carrying the driven The force of melotic drive then, is opposed by the force element. of selection. The offective direction the driven element takes with respect to frequency, will depend on the magnitude of the two forces involved. In man, certain diseases are known to be due to dominant genes, such as thalassemia and sicklemia (Dunn 1953). The frequencies of these conditions were found to be very high in man and could have arisen as a result of an abnormal segregation. This abnormal segregation in man has not been fully understood concerning

its cytogenic properties. Neel (1956) suggested that the high frequency of thalassemia and sicklemeia in man could be due to high mutation rates and not by abnormal segregation. Another possibility could be that it is a case of heterosygote advantage (or overdominance). In mice, the frequency of the "t-alleles" for tailess (which is lethal in the homosygous state) is maintained in wild populations at a high level by abnormal segregation. In both cases, man and mice, the abnormal segregation is met with by a reduction in fitness.

It will be recalled in the discussion on sex-ratio (page 19) that D. paramelanica are found in wild populations in two distinct forms viz., Southern-type sex-ratio and Northern-type sex-ratio, and that Southerntype Y chromosome is able to completely suppress the Northern-type sex-ratio Hence if a Southern-type Y chromosome is found among Northerngene. type populations, through migration of Southern-type sex-ratio flies into the Northern-type populations and through interbreeding between the two, the Southern-type Y will suppress the Northern-type sex-ratio Consequently, the frequency of sex-ratio X will decrease and gene. simultaneously, the frequency of Southern-type Y will increase. The Northern-type Y is constantly lost due to meiotic drive against it and it does not have any suppressing activity of the sex-ratio gene as its southern counterpart has. Because of this, the Southern-type Y chromosome will be found replacing the Northern-type Y, in the Northerntype populations. Stalker (1961) did in fact detect a certain frequency of Southern-type Y chromosome among Northern-type populations.

However, the frequency was low and did not seem to increase i.e. no replacement of Northern-type by Southern-type Y was observed. This suggests that the two types of Y chromosomes differ in some way other than their suppressing ability. It is this other difference (probably a reduction in fitness associated with the Southern-type Y chromosome) that renders the Northern-type Y sufficient adaptive advantage to repel the negative selective force.

Hiraizumi et al (1960) investigated the evolutionary effects of meiotic drive of segregation-distortion in population cages of <u>D. melanogaster</u>. A mathematical model was presented based on models as proposed by Prout (1953) and Sandler and Novitski (1957). A complete mathematical treatment of population dynamics of meiotic drive is complicated since the phenomenon is effective only in one sex. The following mathematical treatment assumes meiotic drive being effective in both sexes to the same degree.

Consider two alleles, Ao and A, which are the driven element and its normal allele respectively. Woo, Wol and 1 are the fitness of  $A_{a}A_{a}$ ,  $A_{a}A$  and AA, and q is the frequency of Ao.

genotype	proportion	fitness	£W
Constant and Constant and Constant and Constant and Constant	La rando de la constanción de la consta La constanción de la c	endersteratione	
AoAo	2	Woo	q <sup>2</sup> 100
A A	2q(1-q)	Wol	2q(l-q)Wol
AA	(1-q)2	Ĩ.	(1-q) <sup>2</sup>

The average fitness of the population is

$$\overline{W} = \sum (fW)$$
  
=  $q^2 Woo + 2q(1-q)Wol + (1-q)^2$ 

If k = the segregation ratio of the heterozygote, then it can be shown that the change in the frequency of q i.e.  $\Delta$  q, is  $\Delta$ q = q(1-q) [q(woo - 2Wo1 + 1) + (2Wolk - 1)] II

$$= -(2Wol - Woo - 1) - (1-q)(q-\hat{q})$$

where 
$$\hat{q} = \frac{2Wolk - 1}{2Wol - Woo} = 1$$

When the driven element Ao, first appears in the population, its frequency q is very small and, to a good approximation, equals to zero. From eq II,  $\Delta q > 0$  is only true when 2Wolk - 1>0. Thus, the chromosome, or chromosomal segment or locus subject to meiotic drive, will be incorporated into the population when 2Wolk - 1 > 0, as proposed by Sandler and Novitski (1957).

When  $\Delta q = 0$  (i.e. at equilibrium),  $q = \hat{q}$  in equation III. Hence the frequency of the driven element is equal to  $\frac{2Wolk - 1}{2Wol - Woo - 1}$  as in equation IV and must lie between 0 and 1.

A driven element, under certain circumstances, can become fixed (i.e. reaching a frequency of 1) in the population. Here, the driven element can become fixed under three conditions

(i) In equation III, when 2Wol - Woo - 1 > 0, the equilibrium is stable since  $\Delta q$  is two when  $q < \hat{q}$  and two when  $q > \hat{q}$ . Stable equilibrium is attained, therefore, when 2Wol - Woo - 1 > 2kWol - 1 > 0, or

i.e. k > 2Wol = Woo = 1 > 0,  $\Delta q$  is the for any value of q < 1. Fixation of the driven element will take place when this condition is satisfied.

(ii) The driven element can also be fixed under unstable equilibrium i.e. when 2Wol = Woo = 1 < 0. The conditions for this are the reverse for stable equilibrium, hence 2Wol = Woo = 1 < 2kWol = 1 < 0, or  $1 = \frac{Woo}{2Wol} < k < \frac{1}{2Wol}$ . Under these conditions, the driven element Ao, will become fixed when its initial frequency  $q_0 > q$ . The element will be lost, however, if  $q_0 < q$ . (iii) Fixation of Ao will also occur when 2Wol = Woo = 1 = 0. Here k must be greater than  $\frac{1}{2Wol} = \frac{(=1 - Woo)}{2Wol}$ . The driven element will be lost however, if  $k < \frac{1}{2Wol} = \frac{(=1 - Woo)}{2Wol}$ .

Under random mating conditions, the effect of a driven element which is not associated with baneficial genes, is to reduce the mean fitness of the population. From equation I,

$$\overline{W} = q^2 Woo + 2q(1 - q)Wol + (1 - q)^2$$

$$\frac{d\overline{W}}{dq} = 2 \left[ (Wooq - 2Wolq + q) + (Wol - 1) \right]$$

$$= 2 \left[ -q(2Wol - Woo - 1) + (Wol - 1) \right]$$

for q to be maximum,

i.e.  $-q_{max}(2Wol - Woo - 1) + (Wol - 1) = 0$ hence  $q_{max} = \frac{Wol - 1}{2Wol - Woo - 1}$  Thus  $q_{\max}$  is only equal to  $\hat{q}$  (as in equation IV) when  $k = \frac{1}{2}$ . For any value of  $k > \frac{1}{2}$  i.e. when under meiotic drive condition,  $q_{\max}$  is always smaller than  $\hat{q}$ .

Laboratory stocks of SD show that the value of K is fairly consistent at approximately 0.99. This high k value is not, however, maintained in wild populations of SD (Sandler et al 1959). The observed allele frequencies were within 2.3% and 3.3%. From population cages studies, the equilibrium frequency was about 10% (Miraizumi et al 1960). Hence, in the wild populations, there must be a special mechanism which suppresses this SD allele frequencies.

A driven element can become fixed in a population if its fitness is as high as or higher than that of its allele. When this situation exists, the role of meiotic drive is to accelerate the rate of increase of this driven element. The fitness of the whole population will increase if the driven element has a higher Selective advantage than New mutants in wild populations, usually have the other alleles. lower fitnesses relative to already existing ones. Thus new instances of meiotic drive will normally have negative selection. The overall fitness of a population will hence be reduced, when the accumulation of the driven element takes place. Because most cases of meiotic drive are associated with a reduction in fitness it is generally thought that the phenomenon is detrimental to a population possessing it in nature. Melotic drive, under certain conditions, can increase the fitness of an equilibrium population even though it is associated with reduced fitness. This is possible when the driven element is linked to some

beneficial genes. Initially, the driven element will increase the frequencies of the beneficial genes thus increasing the fitness of the population. A stage will come when the accumulation of the deleterious driven element has reached such a level that it is harmful to the population, the population fitness will fail. But if, at this point a mechanism has evolved which overcomes the deleterious effect of the driven element, then the beneficial genes would have been incorporated into the population more rapidly than they would have been in the absence of meiotic drive.

The association between abnormal segregation and beneficial genes is illustrated in the case of supernumerary chromosome lilium callosum which exhibit preferential segregation in the embryo sac. mother cells (Kimura and Kayano 1961). The supernumerary chromosome designated  $f_1$  (meaning long telocentric fragment) when present in a single dose is believed to be deleterious and thus increases viabilities. With two  $f_1$ 's, the viability is about 70%, and with more than two  $f_1$ 's viability is virtually sero. The maintenance of these chromosomes in the population is effected merely by preferential segregation. In this system, modifiers which improve viabilities in combination with supernumerary chromosomes f,'s are more advantageous when other factors are equal, than those which improve viabilities without supernumerary (B), since the B chromosomes have greater "transmission coefficient". Should such a system persist, the fitness of individuals with one B will become greater than that of those without B's. Consequently, the frequency of the supernumerary B carriers will increase and in conjunction with

this, the deleterious effect of the supernumerary chromosomes (i.e. reduction in viability) will be diminished.

A special case in which meiotic drive is advantageous is in an already existing balanced lethal. If meiotic drive causes an excess of one of the two alleles in the gametes of one sex and at the same time causes an excess of the alternative allele in the gametes of the other sex, then the zygotes produced will contain an excess of the heterozygotes. Thus the proportions of the two homozygotes are reduced. In this manner, lethal homozygotes are reduced in frequency and lethality will be thus diminished.

The difference in frequencies of SD between wild populations and populations in the laboratory is believed to be due to the association of SD with deleterious genes. In the wild populations, out of the 6 chromosome bearing SD recovered from a total of 183 second chromosomes, 5 were found to contain a recessive lethal. The same lethal genes are not found in laboratory stocks. Another factor which reduces SD in wild populations is that in the wild populations containing SD have accumulated insensitive SD<sup>+</sup> elleles. These alleles reduce the efficiency of the segregating mechanism and thus the equilibrium frequency of SD. It is possible that this SD insensitive sileles become widespread in the population and when this happens the SD locus could be eliminated completely. Therefore, in wild populations of Drosophila which are devoid of SD, no such insensitive alleles are found because their presence would be

unnecessary. Such populations have been observed to exist in Japan.

The reduction in fitness associated with meiotic drive has been referred to as Distortional Load and its measure is the proportion of individuals which have to be eliminated to maintain the driven element in the population (Kimura, 1960). Distortional load is well illustrated in the case of "t-alleles" found in mice. This t allele, which is probably a system of multiple alleles, is a recessive gene on an autosomal chromosome and it causes complete starility when homozygous. Due to preferential segregation of the t allele in heterozygous males (+/t), as high as 95% of the sparms functional during fertilisation may carry the t allele compared to only 5% which carry the normal allele, +. However, the frequency of t allele is only between 25% - 50% in the wild populations (Tutikawa, 1955; Dunn, 1955; Dunn and Suckling, 1956). Thus, although deleterious, the t allele is maintained in the population through abnormal segregation, in its favour.

If (1) k (>0.5) is the segregation proportion of t among the gametes produced by a heterozygous male, (11) male heterozygotes and female heterozygotes have normal reproductive ability, then it can be shown (Kimura and Kayano, 1961) that the equilibrium proportion of t alleles among the male and female gametes are:

$$k = \sqrt{k(1-k)}$$
 and  $\frac{1}{2k} \left[ k = \sqrt{k(1-k)} \right]$ 

The proportion of zygotes which are lethel will be the product of the above two functions, i.e.

$$= \frac{1}{2k} \left[ k - \sqrt{k(1-k)} \right]^2$$

simplifying,

$$=\frac{1}{2}\left[1-2\sqrt{k(1-k)}\right]$$

This is the proportion of individuals which are eliminated from the population in each generation and hence a measure of distortional load, L<sub>SD</sub>;

therefore 
$$L_{SD} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ 1 - 2\sqrt{k(1-k)} \right]$$

In the wild populations studied by Dunn (1957), k was found to lie between 0.89 and 0.99. From this, the distortional load is found to lie between 0.19 and 0.40. Mence, it is seen that in these populations, even disregarding possible effects of heterozygote advantage of t alleles, the load due to maintaining the deleterious t alleles, amounts to between 19 and 40 percent.

Meiotic drive, therefore is a medium through which the frequency of an element can increase in a population. Generally, meiotic drive is associated with a reduction in fitness and this resultant selection pressure keeps the driven element at a low frequency. However, when the element is associated with or linked to some beneficial genes, or with certain modifiers which neutralise its deleterious effects, the element can be significantly maintained in the population.

### V. CONCLUSION

As examplified by Zee mays, orgenesis and megasporogenesis result in the abortion of three of the four meiotic products; the remaining nucleus becomes the functional egg nucleus. In the maize, this becomes the basal megaspore and meiotic drive is brought about by the preferential segregation of the knobbed chromosome into the pole from which this megaspore arises. In sparmatogenesis and microsporogenesis in which all four spermatids and microspores are functional (except in Drosophila in which some of the products of spermatogenesis are non-functional) distortion seems unlikely to occur except in those cases involving post meiotic death due to loss or lethality. As a result, maiotic drive should be expected to be more common in females then in males. However, this is not so. The only known case of melotic drive in Drosophila female is the phenomenon referred to as "nonrandom disjunction". The fact that melotic drive is common in Drosophila male is not surprising either. It should be noted that melotic drive involves the unequal segregation of heterozygotes and in most of them, except in the case of SD, the segregation is between X and Y chromosomes. This is true in the case of sex-ratio, nonrandom segregation and recovery disrupter. In these circumstances, males can be considered as heterozygotes with respect to sex chromosomes. Females are homosygotes and for this reason, meiotic drive is rare in females. Although this explanation is not difficult to accept, the fact that only heterozygous males exhibit segregation distortion (SD), is still puzzling.

In the male <u>Drosophila</u> in which two kinds of poles, functional and nonfunctional exist, preferential segregation must therefore be preceeded by some special orientation of chromosomes on the Metaphase I plate during meiosis. So far, there is no conclusive cytological evidence (except in maize) to suggest the existence of this special orientation. However, there is little doubt that meiotic drive is due to preferential segregation of chromsomes into functional poles.

In a number of species of both plants and animals, a special phenomenon resembling meiotic drive exists. Examples are those cases of "meiotic drive" of supernumerary (B) chromosomes, In Lilium callosum, (Kayano 1957, Kimura and Kayano, 1961), a supernumerary chromosome shows preferential segregation in the embryo-sac. mother cells in such a way that in plants with a single B chromosome, it moves to the micropyler side in about 80% of the cases to be included in the egg cells. This phenomenon has not been observed in Jackson and Cheung (1967) found a unique mode of the male Mlium. segregation of chromosomes, They found that in the grasshopper Phaulacridium vitattum, the supernumerary chromosome and an X chromosome go to the same pole at a frequency of about 30 percent. This leads to an unequal frequency of supernumerary chromosome carriers in the two sexes (see Section Two of this thesis).

In chapter IV, it was shown that under certain conditions, a driven element could be incorporated, or could increase in frequency or even become fixed in a population. High frequency of such an element is very rare in nature, let alone its fixation. It is thus

-45

speculated that there are other forces acting in natural populations whose interplay with meiotic drive proceeds in such a way that the latter's effectiveness is checked. A question arises, is meiotic drive an advantage or a disadvantage to the organisms exhibiting it? It seems that it would be a disadvantage since it is generally associated with a reduction in fitness. It only becomes an advantage when the driven element is associated with some beneficial genes, and this is a rare situation. Unfortunately, meiotic drive itself is a rare phenomenon and this makes the question regarding its significance more difficult to answer. Those examples which have so far been studied suggest that meiotic drive is a recent phenomenon. It could also be that its significant evolutionary consequence has yet to be effected.

PART II

RESEARCH: EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON MEIOTIC DRIVE

I. INTRODUCTION

Most cases of melotic drive are most effective at the optimum temperature for growth and development of the organism exhibiting. it. For Drosophila species, this optimum temperature lies in the region of 25°C. In a number of cases the intensity of meiotic drive has been known to be affected by culture at higher or lower temperatures than the optimum. Zimmering (1963) showed that in the case of nonrandom segregation, the frequencies of gametic types produced by  $sc^4 - sc^8/Y$  males could be considerably changed if the males were raised at a lower temperature as at 18°C. Billet (1967) reported that both lowering and increasing of temperature decreased the amount of segregation distortion and that the effect was more pronounced in a marked line of SD. Although the results obtained by Billet were statistically not significant, they did show a trend of change due to the effect of temperature. Recovery disrupter in Drosophila has also been shown to be temperature sensitive. Erickson and Hank (1961) showed that the high recovery rate of X-chromosome could be nullified by lowering the temperature to 18°C. They also found that the stage in the life cycle which was sensitive to this change was in the process of spermatogenesis.

The effect of temperature on sex-ratio has been studied as early as 1942 in <u>D. pseuloobscura</u> by Darlington and Dobshansky who reported

that the proportion of males dropped when the temperature of development was lowered. Faulhaber (1967) reported similar results in <u>D. simulans</u>. In the mosquito <u>A. accypti</u>, temperature does not affect the expression of sex-ratio (Nickey 1965).

The primery aim of this work is to investigate the effect of temperature on two cases of meiotic drive, viz., Segregation Distortion and Nonrandom Segregation in <u>D. melanogaster</u>. Stocks:

(i) Segregation-distortion.

Two stocks were used a) Stock heterozygous for SD-72 chromosome. This stock is also heterozygous for cn and bw. Hence, genotype of male heterozygous for SD is  $\frac{SD + +}{D}$ 

b) Stock heterozygous for SD-72 bw chromosome. The second stock is different from the previous one in that it is homozygous for bw i.e. the SD-bearing chromosome is labelled with bw i.e.  $\frac{SD}{+}$  bw .

(11) Non-random Segregation.

The stock used was  $In(i) sc^4 - sc^8 y/YB^8 X yf;=/Yy^4$ . This cross produced disjunctional and non-disjunctional offsprings, and the stock was maintained by selecting two of the disjunctional offsprings viz.,  $In(i) sc^4 + sc^8 y/Yy^4$  males and  $yf:=/YB^8$  females. The line, therefore alternated between these two generations i.e.

 $sc^4 - sc^8 y/YB^8 \times yE = /Yy^4$   $sc^4 - sc^8 y/Yy^4 \times yE = /YB^8$ 

(111) Test females.

a. Stock homozygous for cn and bw which were sensitive to SD action. Hence, female genotype  $\frac{1}{2}$  cn by  $\frac{1}{2}$  cn by

b. Yellow body strain, homozygous y//y (free-X females).

### Food medium

The composition of the food medium used in all crosses wase that of Whitten (1965). It consisted of, 90 ml. treacle 550 ml. of water 7.5 gm. agar (OXOID agar no. 3) 45 gm. compressed live baker's yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) 40 gm. Semolina

2,0 ml. propionic acid

This quantity of food was sufficient to fill about  $50,4 \times 1$  inch tubes with about 3/4 inch of medium. Esterfoam bungs were used as tube stoppers.

In all crosses, except specifically stated, four males were mated to five females. All cultures in 18°C and 28°C temperature controlled ovens were continuously illuminated with fluorescent lamps.

#### III. SECREGATION DISTORTION

Six tubes containing SD + + males which had been raised for 1380 1773 several generations at 25°C + ca by virgin females were and t en bu maintained at these temperatures  $18^{\circ}C_{*}$  25°C and 28°C for three successive generations. Flies were removed and counted at fairly regular intervals after first emergence. A similar experiment was also conducted for the marked stock i.e. for SD -Laga malee. Results are shown in figures 1 and 2.

From the results, it is seen that both increasing and lowering of temperatures did not alter the value of k for either SD stocks. In the unlabelled SD chromosome stock, k was constant at 1.00 in all three generations at all three temperatures, showing no effect of temperature on segregation distortion. In the case of the bw labelled stock, k was insignificantly decreased from 1.00 to 0.996 in the first generation (G1) at 18°C and 28°C. But in the succeeding generations, k was again congistent at 1.00.

The above results are therefore not in agreement with those reported by Billet (1967). It should be emphasised that the results reported by Billet for the unlabelled stock were statistically not significant. Despite this however, the results did show a trend due to a change in temperature. The stocks used in this investigation were much more stable and this stability to temperature change could be due to the stabilising modifier St(SD).



Figure 1. Effect of temperature on SD. All crosses are between  $\frac{SD + +}{+ \text{ cn bw}}$  males and  $\frac{+ \text{ cn bw}}{+ \text{ cn bw}}$  females. Upper figures are values for k and lower figures are values for N ( = total progeny ).



Figure 2. Effect of temperature on 3D. All crosses are between males carrying SD-bearing chromosome labelled with bw,  $\frac{SD + bbw}{+ cn bw}$  and  $\frac{+ cn bw}{+ cn bw}$  females.

### IV. DEVIANT SEX-RATIO IN ASSOCIATION WITH SD

In all crosses between SD + + males and Cn by females, + cn bw cn bw there were more males found among the SD progeny than females. This deviation in individual progenies bordered on significance and was consistent between progenies. This preliminary observation supports the report of Hiraizumi and Nakazima (1967). Hiraizumi and Nakazima also reported that more females were found among the small on bw progeny. However, this point was not observed in the stock used since the percentage of on bw among the offeprings was negligible.

The sex-ratio associated with SD was found to be insensitive to temperature change, see Table 1. The temperature/sex-ratio interaction  $\chi_{l_l}^2$  from the 2X2 contingency has a value of 0.17 showing no evidence of interaction (0.7 > P > 0.5). The individual progenies raised at 25°C and 18°C show a similar disturbance of the sex-ratio:-53.2% and 54.6% of males respectively. The deviation from 1:1 ratio borders on significance in each (P > 0.5). The combined sex-ratio disturbance, however, gives a deviation  $\chi_{l_l}^2$  of 5.55 indicating a significant deviation from 1:1 (0.02 > P > 0.01). Thus the bordering significance of sex-ratio deviation in the preliminary observations was due to the small number of individuals among the progeny.

From the above results, it appears therefore that like segregation distortion, the deviant sex-ratio associated with it is also temperature insensitive. This point gives support to the model proposed by Hiraizumi and Nakazima who proposed that there existed a direct

## TABLE 1

Effect of Temperature on Sex-Ratio associated with SD

× 2 8 Q Total  $\mathbb{P}$ Temp. 250 335 294 629 2.67 0.1 > P > 0.05Bordering significance 180 195 162 357 3,05 0.1>P>0.05 Bordering significance the the 5.55 Total 530 456 986 0.02 > P > 0.012 986 <u>294) - (335 x</u> 357 x 530 - 4 2  $\gamma_{0}$ 162) Interaction · 0,17 0.7 > F > 0.5 N.S. or alternatively, Heterogeneity  $\chi^2_{[i]}$ (2.67 + 3.05) - 5.55 0.17 -Deviation  $\chi^2$ 5.55 0.02 > 2 > 0.01\*\*

relationship between SD and sex-ratio (see page 17 ). Since SD is not affected by temperature, on the basis of this model, sex-ratio is also not expected to be affected by temperature changes. The above results showed that this is so.

## V. NONRANDOM SECREGATION

In the maintenance of the stock, the two alternating parents,  $5c^4 - 5c^8y/Yy^4 o'x yf := /YB^8 Q_{*,} produced eight types of offspring,$ only half of which were viable. An accurate estimation of X/Y and 0/XY ratios was therefore not possible. To get reliable figures, the males were crossed to free-X females y//y. This gave only four classes of offsprings, two of which were disjunctional and the other two were non-disjunctional, and all were viable. Estimation of X/Y and 0/XY was made directly through the corresponding ratios among the offsprings.

### (1) Sensitivity to temperature change

A preliminary experiment showed that males raised at the optimum temperature at  $25^{\circ}$ C, produced gametes which consisted of twice as many X as there were Y gametes, and nullo gametes were in great excess over XY gametes (X/Y  $\approx$  2 and 0/XY  $\approx$   $\sim$ ). The percentage of X and Y gametes i.e. of disjunctional gametes, was about 80% showing a high percentage of non-disjunctional gametes of about 20%. This generation is made as the first generation (G1) in the whole temperature experiment scheme, (see Figures 3 and 4).

To study the effect of temperature on nonrandom segregation, six tubes containing  $sc^4 - sc^8y/YB^\circ$  or  $sc^4 - sc^8y/Yy^+$  males which had been raised for several generations at 25°C and virgin y//y females, were maintained at three temperatures, 18°C, 25°C and 28°C for three successive generations. Flies were removed and counted at regular intervals after first emergence.



Figure 3. Effect of temperature on Nonrandom Segregation In(i)sc<sup>4</sup>-sc<sup>8</sup>.Upper figures are X/Y ratios and lower figures are O/XY ratios among the progeny of crosses between  $sc^{4}-sc^{8}/YB$  males and y//y females (free-X) in five successive generations.



Figure 4. Effect of temperature on the percentage of nondisjunctional gametes of  $sc^4 - sc^8/Y$  males which showed Nonrandom Segregation.Lower figures = N.
In the second generation, there was no significant change in either ratio of X/Y or 0/XY (Table 2). At the control temperature  $(25^{\circ}C)$ , X/Y = 2.18 and 0/XY = 19.7. Although 0/XY had increased from 12.3 in Gl to 19.7 in G2, the fact that nullo gamates were in great excess over XY gametes was evident. At the lower temperature at 18°C, X/Y = 2.18 showing no significant change from the X/Y ratio at 25°C at G2 [ $\chi^2$  = 3x10<sup>+6</sup>, P > 0.999, N.S. ] and 0/XY = 27.0 also showing no significant change from the corresponding value at 25°C at G2 [ $\chi^2$  = 0.193, 0.7 > P > 0.5, N.S. ]. Similarly, at the higher temperature at 28°C, X/Y = 2.02 and 0/XY = 97, there was no significant change although the ratio 0/XY had increased from 12.3 to 97.0 [ $\chi^2_{X/Y}$  = 0.244, 0.7 > P > 0.5, N.S. and  $\chi^2_{0/XY}$  = 2.27, 0.2 > P > 0.1, N.S.]

In the third generation at 25°C (Table 3), X/Y = 2.10 and 0/XY = 20.1 showing no significant difference from the corresponding values in  $G2\left[\chi_{X/Y}^{2} = 0.68, 0.8 > P > 0.7, N.S. and \chi_{0/XY}^{2} = 0.0089, 0.95 > P > 0.9, N.S.\right]$ . At  $26^{\circ}$ C, X/Y = 2.26 and 0/XY = 8.15  $\left[\chi_{X/Y}^{2} = 0.417, 0.7 > P > 0.5, N.S. and \chi_{0/XY}^{2} = 8.74, 0.01 > P > 0.001\right]$ . Here again, there was no significant deviation except in the case of 0/XY. This was simply due to the small number of XY class recovered in G2. Nevertheless, nullo gametes were still in great excess over XY genetes. However, at  $18^{\circ}$ C, there was a significant change in gametic frequencies of males; X/Y dropped from 2.18 in G2 to 1.08 in  $G3\left[\chi_{X/Y}^{2} = 6.19, 0.02 > P > 0.01^{**}\right]$  and 0/XY dropped from 27.0 to 1.3  $\left[\chi_{0/XY}^{2} = 6.19, 0.02 > P > 0.01^{**}\right]$ . At the lower temperature,

Progeny of crosses between sc  $^4$  sc  $^5$  YB<sup>2</sup> males and y//y females (free-X) at three different temperatures, in generation 2. N = total progeny. Flies were scored at different emergence.

2500

2800

Canetes formed by male.

000

	X	tand.	0	C	0	0				and the second second	ten]				
	0	00	rai) rai	63	5	9				ALC STREET AND ALC STREET	26		0 03	200	16
	*	-0	22	end M	0č	(1) #1				A substitution of the		end Sand	N 5 N 5	2 1	
	24	3	ĝ	ŝ	R					Addression of the same	236	5 1 1	X/X X/X		
	<b>₩</b>														Ŷ
	×.	rrst	poot.	0	0	0	print			Charleman	64)				
	0	UN .	P~~	Q	£.	ind ind	23			Control and Control of	ß			ĸ	25.
	<b>(</b> 24)	(*)  -1	(3) 194	30	00	*Z	5 10			CONSTRUCTION OF	5 S	28	n n	8	1
	M	65	42	ş	26	46	8			- Contraction of the Contraction	r S	n M	XX/0		N S
	XX	paint	2	r×đ	0	el	şuğ	0	0		Q				
ŧ	0	ņ	127	1S	end end	24	20	4	đ	Sector Sector Sector	201		2.18	2°.2°	2
	×	20	20	30	97	27	25	ţ	Ø	- Sector Sector	179	ŝ	<b>8</b> 11	8	
	м	55	84	5	ŝ	5	2	97 77	60	or and the second second	191	N N N	X/X 0/XX		X X X X X

çe	1
"" "" ""	「「「「「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」

Alia

Frogeny of crosses between sc  $-ac^{4}/Yy^{+}$  maler and y//y females (free-X) at three different temperatures, in generation 3. N - total progeny.

2500

2800

180

Gemetes formed by male.

	2	¢	ო	ţ.	0	0	prid		- and a state of the	2					
0	j. Prod	~	2	90	6-4 7-4	on	bad bad		- net statistical	907	From	8	1. <sup>7</sup> 1	84	I
3	ą	1999 1	57	ž	¢,	Ś	~3			36	.96	8	605 11	2. 8	ŝ
ĸ	23	peod Fred	20	23	2	q	Ø		A SUBJECT OF A SUB	223	<b>X</b>	X	X/0	쳈	<b>次</b> 令
A Statement	0	Ŷ	(* <b>)</b>	~	Q	ē	¢4	0	Activity	-Ste					
	0.∞j	20	10	66	35	127 12	0	ø	A DESCRIPTION OF THE PARTY OF T	321	N		inte	8	
24	2	ŝ	20	**** ***	38	L S	<b>6</b> 0	ŵ	entertheir strips.	21 21 2	8 8	eși N	8		1
	rđ C	89	99	<b>C</b> N 2	70	<b>6</b>	24,	<b>M</b>	-technologicalis-raw	1999 1	24	X	XX/O	XHX	240
X	Ŷ	m	673	đ	w	Ø	<u>ev</u>	end.	el l'alignetes	\$					
o	end and	2	67)	4	ሆን	1	Q	Ø	A REAL PROPERTY.	ę	N	8	Q	₽×2	-
24	88	60	\$	76	ŝ	981	200	5		655	M IN	0°2 1	67 101	₽. 8	1
M	107	8	3	\$ \$	48	23.5	82	01 F%	Contraction of the	710	- 	XX	O/XX		2240

62

therefore, the frequencies of X and Y and also of O and XY (i.e. the frequencies of gametes within disjunctional and nondisjunctional classes respectively) approached equality.

This equality in frequencies of X and Y and also of 0 and XY at 18°C persisted in the following generation (G4), see Table 4. Here X/Y = 1.09 and 0/XY = 2.02  $\left[\chi_{X/Y}^2 = 0.0016, P > 0.95 \text{ N.S.}\right]$ and  $\chi_{0/XY}^2 = 2.27, 0.2 > P > 0.1, N.S.$  showing no real difference from the corresponding values in the previous generation, G3. The inequality of the frequency of disjunctional and non-disjunctional gametes at 25°C and 28°C was also maintained in G4. At 25°C, X/Y = 2.03 and 0/XY = 17.0  $\left[\chi_{X/Y}^2 = 0.07, 0.8 > P > 0.7, N.S.\right]$ and  $\chi_{0/XY}^2 = 0.065, 0.8 > P > 0.7, N.S.$  and at 28°C, X/Y = 2.37 and 0/XY = 11.5  $\left[\chi_{X/Y}^2 = 0.084, 0.8 > P > 0.7, N.S.\right]$  and at 28°C, X/Y = 2.37  $\chi_{0/XY}^2 = 0.73, 0.5 > P > 0.3, N.S.$ 

Lowering of temperature from the optimum growth and development temperature at  $25^{\circ}$ C to  $18^{\circ}$ C therefore, decreased the effectiveness of meiotic drive in Nonrandom Segregation - In (1) sc<sup>4</sup>-sc<sup>8</sup>. Increasing of temperature from  $25^{\circ}$ C to  $28^{\circ}$ C produced no similar change in meiotic drive. It should be noted that the ratio X/Y in all four generations at the control temperature remained constant (X/Y  $\gtrsim$  2). Also, in all four generations at  $25^{\circ}$ C, nullo gametes were in great excess over XY gametes. The change in X/Y and O/XY from G2 to G3 at  $18^{\circ}$ C was therefore, due to temperature effect and not due to other factors such as differences in line stability.

<u>Allen</u>

					çmət]	1	feed	m	0	રમાંગ્રે	-3		No.	3				$\gamma_{1} = 3$	
													*						
	free-X) rogeny.	2800		0	544 213	2	20	10	20	190 190]	35			TOT	809	2.33	5	6.37%	100 T
				<b>8</b> 4	53	23	5	33	67	2	3			2007	Ø	<b>B</b>	944 1	11	N
				×	8	22	20	ĸ	45	10	5		Solume (Solution	<b>3</b> 45	阙	L/X	0/XX	X	NN N
	X.																		
			, s , .			-1 -1 -	5												
	miles Fatio				đ	Ø	Ø	0	Ø	0	0	Q	All and a second	<b>643</b> (					
	<sup>2</sup> ,	2500		0	64)	Q	<b>[~~</b>	07	0	1	\$	~	-	N	397	3.03	°,	202.0	3.64%
Z.	ке К			24	jens. mat	ŝ	9	0	prod from	(~) mai	1	(* <b>)</b>		3	8	<b>1</b> 2	9775 611	. Ø	
76° *	82				· ,	-ық. қас	8 ° 8			a	,		A.	- 1999 -	28	.57		n	ter t
				54	22	Ş	ሆነ ምሳ	R C	33	() 101	<b>\$</b> \$	22	Constant Street	229	識	KX.	0/X	2 =	ы К М
	crosses fferent										,								
	ny of ree di		ale.	N	-4	0	ø	67	\$	ØN.	on	l~	-	17					
	85		a S			2.000		ar di	1900.	site	يختذ			2.000					
	4	00	л Т	69	inei inei	43	S.	64	1.00	43	4	i nard denod	and the second second	5		<i>6</i> 74	<b>8</b> .5	×.4	 
		Ă	form	p,		003 r=4 p=4	117	2005	512	112	96	310	(BURDERSER)	24	288	ö.	2.0	22°	× *
		j. k	8 8 8 8			1							and the second se	মর্	ij			8	1 10
	$x = e^{i t} \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \right)^{-1} e^{-i t}$		Same	×	210	673 974 974	SSI.	102	823	202	133	305	- China and Chin	1426	×	XX	0/XI		

An experiment was done to determine whether or not the effect of temperature was reversible. Six tubes containing  $sc^{4} - sc^{8}/YB^{8}$ males raised at  $18^{\circ}C$  and virgin y//y females, were kept at  $25^{\circ}C$ . The results are shown in Table 5. In the first generation, corresponding to G4 in figure 3, X/Y = 1.06 and 0/XY = 1.56 which did not differ significantly from the corresponding values in G3 at  $18^{\circ}C$  $\left[\chi^{2}_{X/Y} = 0.68, 0.8 > P > 0.7, N.S.$  and  $\chi^{2}_{0/XY} = 0.0089, 0.95 > P > 0.9,$ N.S.]. However, in the following generation (G5), the frequencies of gametes within disjunctional and nondisjunctional classes were typical of meiotic drive in Nonrandom Segregation at optimum temperature with X/Y = 2.35 and  $0/XY = 23.5 \left[\chi^{2}_{X/Y} = 36.64, P < 0.001^{\text{WWM}}\right]$ . Thus, the effect of temperature  $\chi^{2}_{0/XY}$  in 19.49,  $P < 0.001^{\text{WWM}}$ ]. Thus, the effect of temperature on Nonrandom Segregation was reversible.

An interesting point was observed regarding the percentage of non-disjunctional gametes formed by se<sup>4</sup>-se<sup>6</sup>/Y males. In conjunction with X/Y and 0/XY ratios, the percentage of non-disjunctional gametes were also affected by temperature change. When X/Y and 0/XY approached equality as in G3 at  $18^{\circ}$ C, it was found that the percentage of non-disjunctional gametes i.e.  $\frac{X+Y}{N}$  decreased significantly from about 15% - 30%, to nearly 3% (Figure 4). Thus, lowering the temperature from 25°C to  $18^{\circ}$ C decreased the percentage of non-disjunctional gametes, or alternatively, increased the percentage of disjunctional gametes. This effect, like that of temperature on X/Y and 0/XY was also reversible i.e. increasing the temperature from  $18^{\circ}$ C to  $25^{\circ}$ C, increased the percentage of alternatively.

Progeny of crosses between  $sc^4 - sc^8/Y$  males (which had been raised at 18°C) and y//y females (free -X) and culture transferred to 25°C, in generations 4 and 5.

*e*tha

decreased the percentage of disjunctional gametes (Table 5).

Another interesting point observed was that, in Figures 3 and 4, the effect of temperature, both increasing and lowering, had a lag of one generation. This observation led to the belief that, there was a certain phase in the development of the  $sc^4-sc^8/Y$  males which was sensitive to this change in temperature, in consequence of which the ratios of X/Y and 0/XY and also the percentage of disjunctional and non-disjunctional gametes were accordingly affected.

#### (11) Time of Temperature Sensitivity

The time of temperature sensitivity or the time of response to temperature change was determined by transferring males from a higher to a lower temperature and vice-versa and finding the frequencies of all four gametic types utilised in successive broods. Twenty  $sc^4-sc^8/YB^8$  males raised at 25°C which were between 0 and 2 days old were mated singly to five y//y virgin females also of 0 to 2 days old. The twenty tubes were kept at 18°C. Every four days, the males were remated singly to further five virgin y//y females in fresh tubes and kept at 18°C. The five original y//y females were retained in the old culture tubes and later discarded when larvae appeared. Seven broods were maintained and the results are shown in Tables 6, 7 and 8.

From the twenty males employed, only three (nos. 7, 14 and 15) produced offsprings in at least six broods. Six males failed to produce any offspring in all seven broods. Ratio of X/Y among the offspring of the three males are plotted against broods in Figure 5 and the pooled data are shown in Figure 6.

Ratios of X/Y in successive 4-day broods among the offsprings of  $sc^4 - sc^8/YB^8$  males transferred from 25°C to 18°C at the beginning of Brood I.

Male	1	L.L.	111	Brood 1v	Ŵ	<b>v1</b> .	vii
			ingenigen Herrichte gleinen von die	an a	din um anticada a production de la companya de la c	nad varan kogu todindorin	for en an de referense
1. 16	A. 07						
ð e	0.0/						
0 ~		6 A.C	1 60	* ***		¥ *180	1 62
( ~	1.0/	6.63	1,07	1,3/		2.10	Lo di Ch
9 · · · ·	3.0					an alain	
0			i dan ing			0.67	1,64
1	1.5			and the second			
2	1.4				4.0		
3	2.0		÷				
4	2.67		1.77	1.64	1,29	1.41	1.14
5	1.46	2.0	2.17	1.26	0.81	1,38	1.29
6	7.0			· · · · ·			
8	2.0						
.9	5.67	2,25		· · · · · · · · ·	2,75		
mean	2.12	2.22	1.90	1.53	1.32	1.25	1.34

dillo.

Ratios of 0/XY in successive 4-day broods among the offsprings of  $sc^4-sc^8/YB^5$  males transferred from  $25^{\circ}C$  to  $18^{\circ}C$  at the beginning of Brood I.

Male				Brood			
account constructions	2 	11	111 	1v	V	vi.	vii.
	0						
3	6						
6	t i s	 					
7	2	2	7.5	4.3		3	2.5
9	5						
.0	1 N	20				l	1
2	3						
2	. 3				0		
3	4						
ly	5		5.7	1.3	10	. 1	5.5
5	10	L	10.0	3.5	2	6	5.0
6	5						
8	6				. 1		
9	9				3		
			×				
mean	58.0	20.0	7.0	2,4	11.3	2.0	4.4

Percent disjunctional offsprings in successive 4-day broods from sc<sup>4</sup>-sc<sup>8</sup>/YB<sup>3</sup> males transferred from 25°C to 18°C at the beginning of Brood I.

Male		9986-3999 (1999 (1999 - 1989 - 1999 - 1999 - 1997 - 1997		Brood	n af na in fair air na na na na na na na na na		a an
	1	11	111	٤٧	v	v£	11v
1	100		nanista a antanana any amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny	en metro a fristan in standar van de series de series de la series de la series de la series de la series de la La series de la serie	- 102 (1922)-112 (2014-2016) 532 (2016)		соларияния кладински осерцийны оноруждаг -
	45						
6							
7	80	86.7	86.6	91.6		86.2	83.9
9	lata						
20		86.3				78.9	97.4
11	74	· •					
12	85				100		
13	77			۰.			
14	69		82.9	84.7	10	94.2	78.3
15	76	88.9	83.8	88.6	4	93.1	98.6
16	58				1		
18	25						
19	69				3		
mean	68.5	86.3	84.6	69.1	81.4	93.5	94.7
И	187	153	312	466	199	186	509



Figure 5. Change in ratios of X/Y in 4-day broods after transfer from  $25^{\circ}$ C to  $18^{\circ}$ C for three males no. 7,14,15.



Figure 6. Change in mean ratios of X/Y in  $\frac{1}{4}$ -day broods after transfer from 25°C to 12°C.

Control experiments were also conducted at  $16^{\circ}$ C with 4-day broods and at  $25^{\circ}$ C with 2-day broods. Results are given in Tables 9 and 10 respectively. Unfortunately in the control at  $25^{\circ}$ C, no reliable data were available for brood VII since the offspring produced in this brood were too small in number. Natio of X/Y are also plotted together with temperature decreasing experiment data in Figure 6.

The ratios of X/Y at the control temperature at  $16^{\circ}$ C, fluctuated about a mean of 1,226  $\pm$  0.058 for 95% confidence limit. In Brood I, X/Y = 1.15 which was slightly outside the lower limit of the level of 95% confidence. The value, however, increased to 1.29 in Brood II, which was slightly outside the upper limit of the 95% confidence level. The value of X/Y in Brood IV also showed significant deviation. The remaining X/Y ratios showed no significant differences at constant temperature.

At the higher control temperature at  $25^{\circ}$ C, the vatios of X/Y gave a mean of 2.16  $\pm$  0.187 for 95% confidence level of significance. Except in the case of Brood XXI, there were no significant differences among X/Y ratios. Like the case at the lower temperature, it is reasonable to conclude that X/Y ratios at the higher constant temperature, remained constant. It is also reasonable to conclude that paternal age of parents had no effect on ratios of X/Y at both constant temperatures,  $18^{\circ}$ C and  $25^{\circ}$ C.

The time of sensitivity to an increase in temperature from 18°C

Progeny of ec<sup>4</sup>-sc<sup>8</sup>/Y males in successive 4-day broods at constant temperature control of 18°C.

and remains reduced	nde vierserieteren frit	an a	dentionen an exercise	elender og ter i det en en legter sjøre		an a	ermenter desembles, inte	antination and the desired sectors	
Brood	Ca 3	metes 1 <u> </u>	ormed 1	y male XX	**************************************	X/X	0/xT	N+Z N	
1	196	170	16	11	393	1.15	1,45	93.1	
11	191	148	17	4	360	1.29	4.25	94.2	
111	101	150	31	7	369	1,21	4.43	89.7	
٤v	87	66	15	6	174	1.31	2.5	87.9	
Ŷ	108	92	20	12	232	1.17	1.67	86.2	
vi	195	156	34	19	404	1.25	1.79	86.9	
vli	126	105	15	11	257	1.20	1,36	89.9	

Progeny of sc<sup>4</sup>-sc<sup>8</sup>/Y males in successive 2-day broads at constant temperature control of 25°C.

<b>PARTAN</b> I ANDRONANI	Game	tes for	med by i	male	etinis neese ese prive	ina mporene distanci	nijegovi a na vičena stali na	in a tainin a canadan a	airtidiana
Brood	X	neo de la composition de la composition La composition de la co	0	XY	N	х/х	0/XX	X+X	
tinaria conservativa L	169	90	13		274	1,88	6.5	94.5	o\$40381943
11	24	23	9	0	<b>A</b> \$\$	2,18	×.	79.5	
lii	70	29	15	0	114	2,41	Å	86.8	
tv	94	42	26	3	165	2,24	12	82.4	
v	107	52	31	.3	293	2,06	6.2	82,4	
vL	65	39	23	2	149	2.17	11.5	83.2	

vit no results available for this brood.

to  $25^{\circ}$ C (the reverse experiment) was studied in a similar manner. However, in this increase temperature experiment, the brood period was two days. The change in ratios among the progeny of twelve  $sc^{4}-sc^{6}/YB^{6}$  males were followed. Results are shown in Tables 11, 12 and 13. As in the decrease temperature experiment, complete records of all male progeny were not available. Two males failed to produce offsprings while only four gave near complete record. The X/Y ratios of three males (nos. 6, 9 10) are plotted against broods in Figure 7 and the pooled data are shown in Figure 8.

(1)

Ratios of X/Y in successive 2-day broods among the offsprings of  $sc^4-ac^5/YB^6$  males transferred from 18°C to 25°C at the beginning of Brood X.

netteriterinen aus	. Matalakan seringka para Margani	en fosta esteratura de recenter	siger langta anglas sign ti saka tangka na manangka si	e adrite kultari artiken giran	nyista sisti ana kata a	Naldrin för stall in höra Konge Valers	nd ang ital ng ing ing ing ing ing ing ing ing ing
Malo	<b>1</b>	11	111	Brood 1v		v1.	V\$\$
actaurizationomorpo	2003000 9100 991 991 992	ter tende descarder verseren ses	al in an	ar de ar de de ar en	elingdallanders de forse en generalet andere ander de ser	ni filikana kana salaha ang	terration de terrationses
1	1.42	1.31	1.17	2,93			
2 <b>2</b>		, y 4	1.75	2,50	i i	· • • •	
4	0.98		0.83	1,50	1.47		
5				1.36		1.29	
6	1.07	0.89	1.70	1.37	1.85	1.0	1.86
7				1,57		3.4	1.95
9	0.96	1.60	1.66	2,21	2.0	1.5	1,55
10	0.98	1,11	2.50	2.11			1,86
11		1.32	1.05	1,61			
12		0.87	1.15	1,20			
wean.	1.05	1, 19	1.30	1.55	1.64	1,68	1.79

Ratios of 0/XY in successive 2-day broads among the progeny of sc4-sc8/VB<sup>6</sup> males transferred from 18°C to 25°C at the beginning of Broad I.

Male				Brood			
	1.	. 11	1.1.1	1v		17 	11v
1		1.0	1.0	8.0			
2	5.0	•	1.0	2.0			
4	2.0		9.0	6.0	15.0		
S.			~~.	0.3		3.0	
6	1.0	11.0	5.0	0.4	18.0		14.0
7				4.5		3.0	5.0
9	0,6	4.8	9.5	10.0	3.0	3.0	8.0
0	1.0	3.0	1.0	3.0			9,0
1		5.0	6.0	1.5			
2		1	3.7	2.2			
mean	1.5	3.9	6.0	1.68	18.0	9.0	10.6

Percent disjunctional offsprings in successive 2-day broods from sc<sup>4</sup>-sc<sup>6</sup>/YB<sup>5</sup> males transferred from 16<sup>0</sup>C to 25<sup>0</sup>C at the beginning of Brood I.

Male				Brood			
(oggenierowengen	1	11	ili	1.0	٧	vi	11v
1. 7	<b>Č</b>	94 <b>.</b> 9 39	98.4 64	88.7 71			ан сайтаан ал ал ан ал ан ал ан
2	83.7 80		100.0 22	93.0 43			
4	97.9 97		95 <b>.5</b> 67	93.0 86	83 <b>.</b> 2 94		
5				96.9 125	Х <sup>1</sup>	97.5 117	
6	91.1 134	<b>86.0</b> 86	81.8 33	77.3 132	67.8 52	100 12	85 <b>.1</b> 101
7			,	93.3 165		95 <b>.7</b> 69	90.3 62
9	95.7 115	83,9 180	85,6 146	81.8 55	66 <b>.</b> 6 8	90 <b>.</b> 9 33	81.4 97
10	94.6 111	97.4 154	97 <b>.7</b> 43	90 <b>.5</b> 42			84.0 119
11		96.4 166	91.9 87	93.7 159			
12		93.6 110	89 <b>.</b> 2 130	88.5 139			
nean	94.4	91.9	91.7	89.9	76.7	96.2	84.9
N	527	745	588	1011	326	234	378



Figure 7. Change in ratios of X/Y in 2-day broods after transfer from  $18^{\circ}$ C to  $25^{\circ}$ C for three males no. 6,9,10.

.alifa.



Figure 8. Change in mean ratios of X/Y in 2-day broods after transfer from  $18^{\circ}$ C to  $25^{\circ}$ C.

# IV. DISCUSSION

#### Time of temperature sensitivity

The timing in the time of temperature sensitivity experiments is based on the autoradiographic study of spermatogenesis by Chandley and Bateman (1962). At the lower temperature of 18°C, spermatogenesis takes place at a rate of about one half to that at 25°C and the brood period at 16°C was thus four days instead of two as at 25°C. The relationship between spermatogenesis (for early and late utilization of sperms) and time is shown in Figure 9.

From Figure 10 in the temperature increase experiment, Brood IV is the first in which operms utilized responded to temperature change. According to the early utilization scale in Figure 9, the corresponding stege in spermatogenesis is late privary spermatocytes. However. some cells did show some response to temperature as late as in spermatid stage in Brood III. From the reverse experiment, Brood XII shows response by cells at an advanced stage of spermatids. However, the figures available for this reverse experiment were not large enough In both experiments, the ratio of X/Y did not to be quite reliable. reach the values at the control temperatures. In the increase temperatures experiment, even in Brood VII, X/Y is only equal to 1.8, well outside the mean of 2.15 at 25°C. In the decrease temperature experiment, the lowest value of X/Y reached is 1.32 in Brood V as compared to the mean of 1.2 at the 18°C control temperature. In Broods VI and VII, X/Y did not differ from that in Brood V.

s ejac	spermatids see				melosis	s p (	erma prima	tocyt ary)	e s	Early utilization		
10	9	8	7		6	5		4	3	2	<u> </u>	

		s p i e j a c	erm	tes	tis	spe	rmati	ds	meiosis	S	perm (pri	atocy mary j	tes)		Late utilization
Day	12	11	10	9	8	7	6		5	4	3	2	1		
	I	I	I	Ĩ	11	]	V		١	1	1	ΙV	v	11	BROODS

Figure 9. Time of spermatogenesis in  $\underline{D.melanogaster}$  (after Chandley and Bateman).

. ..



Figure 10. Time of response to temperature for Nonrandom Segregation. Broken linearepresents decrease temperature experiment and continuous line represents the reverse experiment.

In the above discussion, no mention is made regarding the ratio of O/XY since the figures obtained varied greatly even at constant temperatures.

The time of temperature sensitivity experiments, thus show that there is somewhat partial sensitivity to temperature change. This could be partly due to sperm retention by males. The result of these experiments is not quite accurate since the X/Y ratio itself varied at constant temperatures. Nevertheless, it does show quite conclusively that the time of sensitivity to temperature change lies within spermatogenesis between the stages containing spermatocytes and spermatids. However, the exact nature of the physical or chemical basis of this temperature affect is not known.

#### Spern morphology

Cytological study shows that there is no difference between the morphology of sperms of males valued at  $18^{\circ}$ C and  $25^{\circ}$ C. Sperms were morphologically normal at both temperatures. This observation parallels that reported by Anderson (1967) who made an electron microscopic study of spermiogenesis in <u>D. melanogaster</u> cultured at  $18^{\circ}$ C and  $26^{\circ}$ C. He reported that there was no apparent morphological basis for sterility observed at elevated temperatures.

This observation supports the hypothesis that the effect of temperature on nonrandom segregation is merely to bring about random assortment of complementary gametes (X and Y, 0 and XY) into functional and nonfunctional poles and this change is therefore not due to any form of structural abnormality.

#### VIII. RESIME

1. The expression of Segregation Distortion is not affected by either decreasing or increasing of temperature.

The slight but consistent deviant sex-ratio associated with S.D.
is also not sensitive to temperature changes.

3. Nonrandom Segregation is temperature sensitive. Lowering the temperature from  $25^{\circ}$ C to  $18^{\circ}$ C results in the production of equal frequencies of functional complementary gametes formed by  $sc^{4}-sc^{8}/Y$  males within disjunctional and nondisjunctional classes. Lowering the temperature also results in a decrease of the frequency of non-disjunctional gametes.

4. The effect of temperature on Nonrandom Segregation is reversible and in both cases, there is a lag of one generation.

5. The time of temperature sensitivity in Nonrandom Segregation is located between spermatocyte and spermatid stages in spermatogenesis.

6. No paternal age effect on Nonrandom Segregation is observed, at both lower and high temperatures.

7. No apparent morphological differences are observed between testes of  $sc^4-sc^8/Y$  males raised at  $18^{\circ}C$  and those raised at  $25^{\circ}C$ .

# VIII. LITERATURE CITED FOR SECTION ONE

	ANDERSON, W.A. 1967. Cytodifferentiation of Spermatozoa in Drosophila melanogaster: the Effect of Elevated Temperature on Spermiogenesis. Molec. Gen. Genetics 99: 257-273.
2,	BILLET, H.M. 1967. B.Sc.Hons. Thesis, University of Tasmania, Hobart.
<b>3</b> .	CHANDLEY, A.C., and A. J. BATEMAN, 1962. Timing of apermato- genesis in <u>Drosophila melanogaster</u> using tritiated thymidine. Nature 193: 299-300.
4.	CHRISTOPHERS, S.R., 1960. <u>Aedes accypti</u> (L.), the Yellow-Fever Mosquito; Its Life History, Blonomics and Structure. Cambridge University Press, London.
5.	COOPER, N.W., 1959. Cytogenetic analysis of major heterochromatic elements (especially Xh and Y) in <u>Drosophila</u> <u>melanogastar</u> , and the theory of "heterochromatin". Chromosoma 10: 535-588.
6.	CRAIG, G.B., Jr., W.A. HICKEY, and R.C. VANDEHEY, 1960. - An inherited male-producing factor in <u>Aedes aegypti</u> . Science 132: 1887-1889.
7.	CROW, J.F., C. THOMAS, and L. SANDLER, 1962. Evidence that the segregation-distortion phenomenon in <u>Drosophila</u> involves chromosome breakage. Proc.Natl.Acad. Sci. U.S. 48: 1307-1314.
8.	DARLINGTON, C.D., and TH. DOBZHANSKY, 1942. Temperature and "sex-ratio" in <u>Drosophila pseudoobscura</u> . Proc. Natl.Acad.Sci. U.S. 28: 45-48.
9.	DUNN, L.C., 1953. Variations in the segregation ratio as causes of variations of gene frequency. Acta Genet. et Statist.Med., 4: 139-147.
10.	1955. Widespread distribution of mutant alleles (t-alleles) in populations of wild house mice. Nature 176: 1275-1276.
11.	DUNN, L.C., and J. SUCKLING, 1956. Studies on the genetic variability in wild populations of house mice. I. Analysis of seven alleles at locus T. Genetics 41: 344-352.

12. DUNN, L.C., 1957. Evidence of evolutionary forces leading to the opread of lethal genes in wild populations of house mice. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci. U.S. 43: 198-163. 13. EMMERLING, M.H., 1959. Preferential segregation of structurally modified chromosomes in maize. Genetics 44: 625-645. 14. ERICKSON, J., 1964. Drosophila Inform. Serv. 38: 76. 1965. Meiotic drive in Drosphila involving chromosome breakage. Genetics 51: 555-571. 15. ERICKSON, J., and G.D. HANKS, 1961. Time of temperature sensitivity of meiotic drive in Drosophila melanogaster. Am. Nat. 95: 247-250. 16. FAULMABER, S.H., 1967. An abnormal sex-ratio in Drosophila simulans. Conctics 56: 189-213. 17. GERSHENSON, S., 1928. A new sex-ratio abnormality in Drosophila obscura. Genetics 13: 488-507. 18. MARR, G.D., 1964. The analysis of a case of malotic drive in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 50: 123-130. 19. 1965. Are deviant sex-ratios in normal strains of Drosophile caused by aberrant segregation? Genetics 52: 259-266. 20. HICKEY, W.A. 1965. Distortion of sex-ratios in Aedes segypti (Diptera: Culicidae). Ph.D. thesis, University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame, Indiana. 21. NICKEY, W.A., and G.B. CRAIG, Jr., 1966. Genetic distortion of sex-ratio in a mosquito, Aedes aegypti. Cenetics 53: 1177-1196. 22. MIRALZUMI, Y., 1962. Low viability induction by the Segregation distortor locus (SD); preliminary note. Drosophila Inform. Serv. 36: 77. 23. HIRAIZUMI, Y., and K. NAKAZIMA. Deviant sex-ratio associated with segregation distortion in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetice 55: 681-697. 24. NIRALIMI, Y., L. SANDLER, and J.F. CROW, 1960. Meiotic drive in natural populations of Drosphila melanogaster. III Population inplications of the segregation-distorter locus. Evolution 14: 433-444.

88

#### 1

25.	HUGHES-SCHRADER, S., 1940. The meiotic chromosomes of the male <u>Llavaiella taenechnia</u> Morrison (Coccoidae) and the question of the tertiary split. Biol.Bull 78: 312-337.
26.	JACKSON, W.D. and D.S.M. CHEUNG, 1967. Distortional meiotic
	differential frequencies in the sexes in the
	short-horned grasshopper P. Vicattum. Chromosoma 23: 24-37.
27.	KAYANO, N., 1957. Cytogenetic studies in Lilium callosum. III.
· >	chromosome in EMC <sub>s</sub> . Proc. Japan Acad. 33: 553-558.
28.	KIKUDOME, G., 1959. Studies on the phenomenon of preferencial segregation in maize. Genetics 44: 815-831.
29.	1961. Cytogenetic behaviour of a knobbed chromosome
• - 4	10 in maize. Science 134: 1006-1007.
30.	KIMDRA, M., 1960. Genetic load of a population and its significance in evolution. Japan J. Genetics 35: 7-33.
31.	KIMURA, M., and H. KAYANO, 1961. The maintenance of supernumerary chromosomes in wild populations of <u>Lilium callosum</u> by preferential segregation. Genetics 46: 1699-1713.
32.	Li, C.G., 1955. Population Genetics. The University of Chicago Press.
33.	LONGLEY, A.E., 1938. Chromosomes of maize from North American Indians. Jour. Agric. Res. 56: 177-196.
34.	1945. Abnormal segregation during megasporogenesis in maise. Genetics 30: 100-113.
35.	MANGE, E.J., 1961. Meiotic drive in natural populations of <u>Drosophila melanogaster</u> . VI. A preliminary report on the presence of segregation-distortion in a Baja California population. Am.Nat. 95: 87-96.
36.	MORGAN, T.H., C.B. BRIDGES and A.H. STURTEVANT, 1925. The Genetics of <u>Drocophils</u> . Bibliogr. Genetics 2: 109-129.
37.	NEEL, J.V., 1956. The genetics of human haemoglobin differences: Problem and perspectives. Ann. of Human Genet. 21: 1-30.

38.	NOVITSKI, E.,	1947. Genetic analysis of an anomalous sex ratio condition in <u>Drosophila affinis</u> . Genetics 32: 526-534.
39.	ni talay ara	1951. Non-random disjunction in <u>Drogophila</u> . Genetics 36: 267-280.
40.	NOVITSKI, E.,	and E. EHRLICH 1956. Segregation in males carrying various chromosome arrangements and the Segregation- Distorter chromosome. Drosophila Inform. Serv. 41:184.
41.	MOVITSKI, E.,	and G.D. HANKS, 1961. The analysis of irradiated Drosophils populations for instances of meiotic drive. Nature 190: 989-990.
42.	NOVITSKI, E.,	W.J. PEACOCK, and J. ENGEL., 1965. Cytological basis of "sex-ratio" in <u>Drosophila pseudoobscura</u> . Science 148: 516-517.
43.	NOVITSKI, S.,	and L. SANDLER, 1956. Further notes on the nature of non-random disjunction in <u>Drosophila melanogaster</u> . Genetics 41: 194-206.
44.	MOVITSKI., E.,	and L. SANDLER, 1957. Are all products of spermato- genesis regularly functional? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S. 43: 318-324,
45.	PEACOCK, W.J.,	1965. Nonrandom segregation of chromosomes in Drosophila males. Genetics 51: 573-583.
46.	FEACOCE, W.J.,	and J. ERICKSON, 1965. Segregation-distortion and regularly nonfunctional products of spermatogenesis in <u>Drosophila</u> melanogaster. Genetics 51: 313-328.
47.	PROUT, I., 195	3. Some effects of variations in the segregation ratio and of selection upon frequency of alleles. Acta.Genet.et Statist. Med., 4: 148-151.
48,	RHOADES, M.M.,	1942. Preferencial segregation in maize. Genetics 27: 395-407.
49.		1952. Preferential segregation in maize pg. 66-80. Meterosis. Edited by J.W. COMEN, Iowa State College Press, Ames.
50.	RHOADES, M.M.,	and H. VILKOMERSON, 1942. On the anaphase movement of chromosomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S. 28: 433-435.

51. RHOADES, M.M., and E. DEMPSEY, 1957. Further studies on preferential segregation. Maize Genet. Coop. News Letter 31: 77-80. 1966. Induction of chromosomal doubling at meiosis by the elongated gene in maize. Genetics 53. 1966, The effect of abnormal chromosome 10 on preferential segregation and crossing over in maize, Cenetics 53: 989-1020. SANDLER, L., 1962. A directed, permanent, genetic change involving 54. the Segregation-distortion system in Drosophila melanogaster. Am. Nat. 96: 161-163. 55. SANDLER, L., and G. BRAVER, 1954. The meiotic loss of unpaired chromosomes in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 39: 365-377. 56. SANDLER, L., and NOVITSKI, 1957. Meiotic drive as an evolutionary force, Am. Nat. 91: 105-110. 57. SANDLER, L., and Y. HIRALZUMI, 1959. Meiotic drive in natural populations of Drogophila melanogaster. II Genetic veriation at Segregation-distorter locus. Proc. Natl, Acad. Sci. U.S. 45: 1412-1422. 58. 1960a. Meiotic drive in natural populations of Drosophila melanogaster. IV. Instability at the Segregation-distorter locus, Genetics 45: 1269-1287. 59. 1960b. Melotic drive in natural populations of Drosophila melanogaster. V. On the nature of the SD region. Genetics 45: 1671-1689. 60. 1961a. Melotic drive in natural populations of Drosophila melanogaster. VII. Conditional Segregation. distortion: A possible nonallelic conversion. Genetics 46; 585-604, 61. 1961b. Meiotic drive in natural populations of Drosophila melanogaster. VIII. A heritable aging effect on the phenomenon of Segregation-distortion. Canad. J. Genet. Cyto. 3: 34-46. 62. SANDLER, L., Y. HIRALZUMI, and I. SANDLER, 1959. Melotic drive in natural populations of Drosophila malanogaster. I. The cytogenetic basis of Segregation-distortion. Genetics 44: 203-250.

63.	STALKER, H.D., 19 ir	61. The genetic systems modifying melotic drive <u>Drosophila paramelanica</u> . Genetics 46: 177-202,
64.	STRICKBERGER, M.V. Jo	. 1962. Experiments in Genetics with <u>Drosophila</u> . An Wiley and Sons, Inc.
65.	STURTEVANT, A.H., di Di Go	and TH. DOBZHANSKY 1936. Geographical stribution and cytology of "sex-ratio" in coophila pseudoobscura and related species. metics 21: 473-490.
66.	SWANSON, C.P., 19	957. Cytology and Cytogenetics. Prontice-Hall, Inc.
67.	TUTIKAMA, K., 195 Wi	5. Further studies on the t locus in the Japanese 1d Mouse Mus musculus molossinus. In "National
		scitute of Generica (Japan) Annual Keport", 21 1-15.
68.	WALLACE, B., 1956 DC	. Studies on irradiated populations of <u>Drosophila</u> <u>lanogaster</u> . J. Genet.54: 280-293.
69.	VELIMAN, A.S., 19 of	54. Non-random disjunction in attached -X females D. melanogaster. Drosophila Inf. Serv. 28: 166.
70.	WHITTEN, M.J. 196 Di of	5. Genetical analysis of thresholds in osophila melanogaster. Ph.D. Thesis, University Tasmania, Hobart.
71.	YANDERS, A.F., 19 ag	65. A relationship between sex-ratio and paternal are in <u>Drosophila</u> . Genetics 51: 481-486.
72.	ZINMERING, S., 19 tr 40	35. A genetic study of segregation in a constant of segregation in a constant of segregation in a constant of the constant of
73.	19	63. The effect of temperature on melotic loss of me Y chromosome in the male <u>Drosophils</u> . Genetics 48: 13-138.

1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -

# SECTION TWO

# I. ESTIMATION OF FREQUENCIES OF SUPERNUMERARY (B) CHROMOSOME CARRIERS

#### a. INTRODUCTION

The presence of a mictically stable supernumerary (B) chromosome in the local populations of the short-horned grasshopper <u>Phaulacridium</u> <u>vitattum</u> was first detected as early as in 1956 in the Hobart Botanical Gardens. The frequency of carriers of these B chromosomes in this upper estimated for 9 successive years by Jackson (in Cheung 1966). In 1965, three new populations were studied and the frequency of their B carriers estimated (Cheung 1966). In all instances above, the estimation of the frequency of B carriers was made through the study of meiosis in the male grasshopper. The aim of this part of the work is to estimate the frequency of B carriers in the female population.

The precocity and positive heteropicnocity of the B and X chromosomes relative to the autocomes in meiotic divisions allow carriers to be easily recognised in meiotic prophase. Mence an accurate estimation of the frequency of carriers of the B chromosome in the males can be easily made. In the female, the study of meiotic stages is technically difficult although this has been done (White, Cheney and Key 1963). Even though preparations of meiotic chromosome can be made from females, only a few cells at the required stage can be obtained from one female. Hence the results obtained are likely to be inaccurate. In any case the labour involved is very great.

I have therefore decided to estimate the frequency of carriers in the female from a study of mitotic divisions of the primary germ cells and ocgonia in the germarium of the ovary. Two to three ovarioles give about two to three dozen cells in mitotic metaphase from which chromosome counts can be made more reliably and with less labour than by a study of meiosis. It is interesting to note that it is not necessary to make a total chromosome count of a cell; the B chromosome is very large relative to the rest of the complement and its presence can be reliably detected (Figure 2).

#### . MATERIALS AND METHOD

100 females were sampled from the Botanical Gardens population within a period of two weeks. 0.2 mls. of 0.04% colchicine in Ringer solution A were injected into the abdomen of the females using a micrometer syringe. The females were then left for five hours, at the end of which the abdomen was dissected, the ovaries removed and immediately subjected to hypotonic treatment by placing them in distilled water for five minutes. The ovaries were then fixed in Carnoy (1886) consisting of (v/v) 100 absolute alcohol, 16 glacial acetic acid and 50 pure chloroform. The fixed ovaries could be stored at  $0^{\circ}$ C in the fixative for a period of at least ten months.

Squash preparations of the germarium (Figure 1) containing the primary germ cells and oogonia were made in orcein. An average of 10 cells were scored from each female grasshopper.

96 male grasshoppers were also sampled from a different population,


Figure 1. Diagram showing reproductive organs of a female grasshopper, <u>P. vitattum</u>.



Woolden Flace. Testes were removed and placed in distilled water for hyptonic treatment. They were then fixed in Carnoy (1886) as above. Squash preparations were made in orcein.

### c. RESULTS

Data for the frequency of +B females in the female population in the Botanical Gardens and also of +B males in the male population in Woolden Place are given in Table 1.

Table 1. Frequencies of +B individuals in two populations of

P. vitattum, sampled in early 1907.

energistication of the second seco	uning and the state of the stat	nagionale antes president andre andre and an andre and	ander in a stand, and an easy and an easy are the second state of the second state of the second state of the s	****	and (all a <b>AC</b> and an excession of the second
Population	Bex	-B individuals	+B individuale	total	frequency of +B individuals
ENTROPOLISIA CARACTERISTICS AND	eralation and all statistic states and	<ul> <li>A trad of the second strategy and a second strategy strategy and</li> </ul>	a na se a na se an	and a second	and a set of a set of the set of
Botanical Gardens	Ŷ.	94	6	100	0.060
Woolden Place	ហី	87	9	96	0.094
	an a		and some is a second second second		a second a second and a second s

## Karyotype of P. vitattum female

In <u>P. vitatum</u>, the normal female complement is 2n = 22 + 2X(Sharman, 1952). At mitotic metaphase, the two X's are not distinguishable from the autosomes. The morphology of the autosomes is similar to that of the male autosomes, three pairs are extremely small, reduced to little blobs in the colchicine treated cells. Four pairs are of medium size while the remaining four are fairly large (Figure 2). All members of the complement are acrocentric.

### d. DISCUSSION

Cheung (1966) calculated a theoretical value for the frequency of B carriers in the female population of <u>P</u>. <u>vitattum</u>. This calculation was based on the 7:3 ratio of the movement of X and B chromosomes at Anaphase I. He found that the frequency of a single B carrier among the females would be 0.0005 in the 1965 meiotic season and this figure would decrease at the rate of 0.0235 per generation. Based on this calculation (this is logical since the 7:3 ratio of the movement of X and B chromosomes during Anaphase I persisted in the 1967 meiotic season, see page 100), the frequency of +B individuals among females in the Botanical Gardens population in the 1967 meiotic season would be  $\ll$  0.0395. (It is assumed that there is only one generation per annum).

The frequency of +8 females is found to be0.060 showing a deviation from the expected figure by 0.0205. The B chromosome therefore, seems to be maintained in the population at a higher frequency than expected. This, as Cheung had realized in the case of the males, suggests that the presence of the single B chromosome in association with certain background genotypes and also certain environmental conditions renders the +B females their fitness, which enables them to be significantly maintained in the population.

The frequency of the +B males in the Woolden Place population in the 1967 meiotic season is 0.094 as compared to 0.1650 in 1965. The frequency should increase at the rate of 0.015 per generation

(Cheung, 1966). The fact this did not take place suggests that there might be a strong selection against the +B male carriers, or alternatively, B chromosomes appear to effect a reduction in fitness of those males which possess them. However, a much larger sample is required for study to confirm this.

eren · 🖾

### II. DISTORTIONAL SEGREGATION OF B CHROMOSOMES

In spermatogenesis, definite associations between B and X chromosomes during late Prophase I are observed. Cheung (1965) found that there were three categories of B and X associations. The two chromosomes could be found either together (end-to-end or side-by-side) or separate from each other. It was observed that the frequency of the two chromosomes found in an end-to-end and sideby-side associations was  $\gg 0.7$ . The B and X chromosomes are also observed to have a definite Anaphase I movement. Cheung found that the frequency of them going to the opposite pole was  $\approx 0.7$  and that to the same pole  $\approx 0.3$ .

An attempt was made to test the stability of these associations between B and X chromosomes at late Prophase I and also at Anaphase I. The results are shown in Tables 2-4.

 $\chi^2$  tests show that both associations do not differ significantly in the two meiotic seasons. It seems therefore that the transmission of B chromosomes from one generation to the next is fairly constant, and hence further variation in +B frequencies in <u>P</u>. <u>vitatum</u> populations could be due to other factors, such as selection.

From the frequencies of the associations of B and X chromosomes during Prophase I and during late Anaphase I, it appears that there is a direct relationship between these two associations. It can be confidently inferred that when the B and the X chromosomes do synapse during Prophase I (either end-end or side-side), they usually disjunct

1

during Anaphase I and consequently segregate into opposite poles; the frequency of synapsis to the frequency of disjunction is  $\approx 0.7:0.7$ . This situation in which synapsis usually leads to disjunction is comparable to that found in Nonrandom Segregation shown by  $In(i)sc^4-sc^8/Y$ males in <u>D. melanogaster</u> (see page 4 ).

Table 2. Association between N and X chromosomes during late

Prophase I.

ter Malandi Malandi a Malandi a mata di kata di milandi a mana da mana da mata di kata di kata di kata di kata	ar dan demonstration of the free case of the state of t	
Type of Association	Number of cells	Frequency
n a stand a sta The stand a stan	and talkin in india any many many many states in the second second second states and the second second second s	an a
Separate	75	0,2885
End-End	30	0.1153
Side-Side	123	0,5962
a individual and a second second second second and the second second second second second second second second	a an	naan para kana kana kana kana kana kana kana k
Total	260	1.0000
anticipation and a substantian contraction of the substantian of the substantian terms of the substantian and the	การการสารสารการสารการสร้างการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการสารการการการการ	dana ana ana amin' mandalana na ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana

<u>Table 3</u>.  $\chi^2$  for agreement of frequencies of B and X association with 7:3 ratio.

And the second state of the second second	an china a su china a s	and a set of the reader of the set of t	
	Separate	End-End or Side-Side	Total
analitatingana gantarana	nterna de anticipación de la constitución de la constitución de la constitución de la constitución de la const	KANNESKON SAMANAN MANANAN MANAN	มสมรัฐสารแขนของที่มีผู้สำคัญของการสารแรงที่สำคัญของสุดาร์สารสารสารสารสารสาร
obs.	75	185	260
Exp.	78	182	260
anan dalamana a asimin	n na mhainn ann an ann ann ann an an Ann Ann Ann	nakana pamana indonatan katalan tereseta ana dan kanada dan tana kana kana kana kana kana kana ka	an sy manana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana
	. 1 2		

 $\gamma_{[1]}^{4} = 0.1649$  df = 1 P > 0.5 N.S.

Table 4. Frequencies of movement of B chromosomes with respect to that of X chromosomes at late Anaphase I.

<del>สมสตร์สีสีสีสีสีสีสีสาวาร เสารรรณเสารรรณส</del>	ann an	and the state of the	an ana an ann an an an an an an an an an		namen and second second
	Same Pole	e sa e Sire	Opposite Pole	Frequency	Total
<b>nan (1978) in an a</b> n taine in sin an an Alisa an	a dan dikarak dalam sera sebagan kelangkan kelang anakan dikarang	(japanéranén diné di kaséranén	an she an	n Middle Anna an	n version and a finally assessment of the second
Obs.	91		181	0.3346	272
Exp.	81.6	1 A	190.4	0.6654	272
Receiving of the state of the second	and and a second state of the s	nga tini anananga tinaya	ng sen nage all the and some age advantance of the term of the	nan kanalar di selangan sana di selah kanalaran kanalaran kanalaran kanalaran kanalaran kanalaran kanalaran kan	an distanti si an afi se sa ana an afi

 $\gamma_{[i]}^2 = 1.547$ d£ = 1 P > 0.2 N.S.

. ·

# III. CYTOGENETIC EFFECTS OF B CHROMOSOMES IN

## PHAULACRIDIUM VITATIUM - INFLUENCE ON CHIASMA

FORMATION

# a. IMPRODUCTION

Since the time they were first discovered by Wilson in 1905 in the hemipteran insect <u>Metapodius</u>, accessory chromosomes (as they ware originally called) had been under intensive study. They differ from the normal chromosome complements not only in that they form a system of mutation and recombination of their own, but also in that they defy the Laws of Mendelian Inheritance and selection. Although much have been discovered about their behaviour, origin, distribution and significance in population dynamics, the same can hardly be said about their effects, either cytological or genetic, on the individuals which possess them.

Muntzing (1959) found that B chromosomes reduced the fertility and vigour in rye, and this effect increased with the number of B chromosomes present. Similar results were reported by Kayano (1956, 1957) and Kimura and Kayano (1961). On the other hand, B chromosomes were found to be advantageous in certain plants. This is illustrated in the case of <u>Festuca pratencis</u> (Bosemark 1957a and 1957b), <u>Gentauria</u> <u>scabiose</u> (Frost 1956), <u>Trillium</u> spp (Rutishauser in Muntzing 1959) and <u>Achilles</u> spp (Muntzing, 1959) in which the fertility of the carrier plants was enhanced. B chromosomes have also been known to affect

development. Thus in <u>Polycelis tenuis</u>, a freshwater turbellaria (Melander, 1950), the rate of development and sexual maturity were decreased causing reproductive isolation. However, in the mealy bug <u>Pseudococcus obscurus</u>, developmental time was found to increase in the males with a single B chromosome (Nur 1966a and 1966b). At the same time, there was a reduction in the number of sperms produced. No such effects of B chromosomes were observed in the females.

Many of the genetic effects of B chromosomes have been found to occur at the endophenotypic level as suggested by Lewis and John (1959). Thus in <u>Pyrogorphia dispar</u>, it was found that A chromosomes were more subject to numerical error in -B individuals. On the other hand, a direct effect of B chromosomes on the stability of A chromosomes has been observed in <u>Achilles</u> (Ehrendorfer in John and Hewitt 1965) and also in <u>Trillium</u> and <u>Crepsis</u> (Rutishauser in John and Hewitt 1965). Jackson and Newmark (1960) found that one of the two types of B chromosomes found in <u>Maplopappus gracilis</u> brought about the production of pigments in the achene wall.

The influence of B chromosomes on the level of chiasma formation was first investigated by Baker (1960) who found that in the mottledgrasshopper <u>Myrmeleotettix maculatus</u>, +B individuals have significantly higher chiasma frequency than -B individuals. In this part of the thesis, an attempt is made to compare the levels of chiasma formations among -B and +B individuals in the short-horned grasshopper, <u>P. vitattum</u>.

in .

# b. MATERIALS AND METHOD

Of the four populations sampled in the 1965 meiotic season, the chiasma frequencies of only two of them vis. Botanical Gardens and Woolden Place populations were satisfactorily estimated. Slides of the other two populations were available but too few for the purpose of this work. The chiasma frequency of one population in the 1967 meiotic season i.e. Woolden Place population, was also estimated.

In the male <u>P</u>. <u>vitattum</u>, the autosomes are made up of three small and eight fairly large chromosomes. Preliminary observations revealed that each of the three small autosomes did not have more than one chiasma. Of the eight large autosomes, only four seemed to show, quite consistently, two or more chiasma per autosome. Each of the remaining four, usually had a single chiasma. Chiasma formations were not easily observed in the B and X chromosomes. This was due to their precocious meiotic behaviour. In view of all these observations, it was decided to make chiasma counts of only the four largest autosomes. Ten diplotene cells per individual male were scored. The data is given in Table 5. Only males with one B chromosome were scored.

#### c. RESULTS

From the results, shown in Tables  $6 \sim 10$ , the following conclusions can be made:

Table 5. Jhiasma frequencies of the four largest chromosomes of  $\underline{P.vitattum}$  in three populations. Xa = the average value of ten cells per individual. Log V=the log of the variance of chiasma frequency within an individual.

Population	Botani 1	cal Gdn. .965	Woold	en Place 965	Wool	den Place 1967
Frequency of B carriers	10	• 53%	16	• 5%		9.37%
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Xa	log V	Xa	log V	Xa	log V
B +B	4.4 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8 6.2	-0.5735 -0.5560 -0.3251 -0.1972 -0.5735 -0.5638 -0.2434 -0.5560 +0.2270 -0.1046 -0.4921 -0.7496	4.0 4.5 4.6 4.9 5.0 5.2 5.4 5.6 5.7 5.6 5.8	-0.3279 -0.5229 -0.5229 -0.7799 -0.1152 -0.6578 -0.3119 -0.7496 -0.6144 -0.5735 +0.0233 -0.5735 -0.6234 -0.3979 -0.3979	4.3 4.8 4.9 5.1 5.2 5.2 5.4 9 15.5 6 8 2 2	-0.6326 -0.2061 -0.7496 -0.4921 -0.3526 -0.2644 -0.3979 -0.3979 -0.3979 -0.5735 -0.2644 -0.1152 -0.5560 -0.0250 -0.3107 -0.7979 -0.2061 -0.2061
Mean chiasma - frequency -	-B4.68 +B5.77		4.67 5.68		4.99 5.60	
Population mean Xa freq.	5.32		5.21		5.26	
Variance - between + individual	B 0.1670 B 0.085	0.2680 70.1982	0.128 0.247	3 0.2959 9 0.3247	0.099	96 0.2472 71 0.1713
Bopulation variance between individual	0.118	2 0.2261	0.192	7 0.3114	0.149	93 0.2140
Mean log V -B +B		-0.4451 -0.2118		-0.4626 -0.4885		-0.4465 -0.3102
Population mealog V	an	-0.3089		-0.4764		-0.3859

1. In all the three populations, the mean chiasma frequencies among the +B individuals are significantly different from the mean chiasma frequencies among the -B individuals. In all cases, +B individuals have a higher mean chiasma frequency (Table 6).

2. The mean chiasma frequencies among the +B individuals are not significantly different in the two populations in the 1965 meiotic season (Table 7).

3. The mean chiasma frequencies among the -B individuals are also not significantly different in the two populations in the 1965 season. Here, a test of significance is unnecessary since the two means are 4.68 and 4.67 with a very small deviation of 0.01.

4. In the Woolden Place population, the mean chiasma frequencies among -B and +B individuals in the 1965 season do not differ significantly from the corresponding values in the 1967 season. The chiasma frequencies among -B and +B individuals were therefore relatively constant at least for the two meiotic seasons, 1965/1967 (Table 8).
5. The population mean chiasma frequencies of the two populations in the 1965 season do not differ significantly (Table 9).
6. The population mean chiasma frequencies of Woolden Place population do not differ in the years 1965 and 1967 (Table 10).

Table 6. A comparison of mean chiasma frequencies between -B

Population	Mean chia	sma freq.	t	d£	P
nelezininga temperatur inizia taka kata sa sa taka kata periodo kuto sa kata kata ya kata kata ya sa sa sa sa s	10 <b>8</b>	ufuB	Bendrich faagtere Bendrichter op sechen aan aan de sekeren de sekeren de sekeren de sekeren de sekeren de seke	Martigleigdei beit förstalladeringenaderig	an a
Bot. Gardens (65)	4.68	5.77	5.42	10	\$ 0.01
Woolden Place (65)	4,67	5,68	4.45	13	\$ 0.01
Woolden Place (67)	4.99	5.60	3.33	16	< 0.01
<u>Table 7</u> . A compar	ison of m	ean chiasma <i>f</i>	requencies b	etveen +	8 8
<u>Table 7</u> . A compar individu	ison of m als in tw	ean chiasma f o populations	requencies b (Bot, Garde	etween + ns and W	B oolden
<u>Table 7</u> . A compar individu Place) in	ison of m als in tw n 1965.	ean chiasma f o populations	requencies b (Bot. Garde	etween + ns and W	8 00 lden
<u>Table 7</u> . A compar individu Place) in Mean chiasma freq.	ison of a als in tw n 1965.	ean chiasma f o populations	requencies b (Bot. Garde	etween + ns and W	8 oolden
<u>Table 7</u> . A compar- individu Place) in Mean chiasma freq. B.G. W.P.	ison of m als in tw n 1965.	ean chiasma f o populations t	requencies b (Bot. Garde df	etween +	8 oolden P

and +B individuals in three populations in 1965 and 1967.

Table 8. A comparison of mean chiasma frequencies between

(i) -B individuals and (ii) +B individuals in Woolden Place population in two years 1965/67

manah kapang kang kang kang kang kang kang kang k	kaliha bilaran kanalaran	e generale false soger states af the dest	unan diserta di seconda di secondo di second Secondo di secondo di se	na na na na pangan di kani kana kana kana kana na panganangan kana kana na na pangan na pangan kana kana kana k	teken internisti sonat konsti	ini ini dia kaominina dia mandri dia dia mandri dia dia mandri dia dia dia dia dia dia dia dia dia di	no de la dela construcción de la dela de la dela de la dela de la dela de	ser and the second second
	Mean	chiasma	freq.	t,	d£	÷	P	
	1965	-	1967					
engenoogenkkengenspronger op oor	en an	ngenetisteren in nederlande Salteren	ninternisis neisenisti nähenisti	1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1997 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 -	akangangun kana	teman terris di kepin silan 1963	z (Kolenia) a na mangada ka	a na sa
~B	4.67	6	4.99	1,964	15	>	0.05	N.S.
*8	5.68	j	5.60	0,332	14	>	0.7	N.S.
Second press of all the second se	Contraction and the second second second	an faith an	Contract of the second second second second		Charles and the second second	er namer and the second second second second	and the second	esterior and the second second

<u>688</u>

<u>Table 9</u>. A comparison of population mean chiasma frequencies and population variance, between two populations in 1965

n gantafanganga Biginan na na Kitala	alan dalam manana mani adalah pendarahan	ai Mag-an Anginan Indonesian	annaan sheraan ah soo ah sadar ah sadar	andra dia sama na manana na dia amin'ny sirana manana amin'ny sirana amin'ny sirana amin'ny sirana amin'ny sir	nainananan shakaran isariya	nden alle minister den nye også	-10-11-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-
	8.6.	V.P.	ter source and the second s	V.R.	df.	2	
Chiasma fr	req. 5,32	5,21	0.710		23	> 0.:	) N.S.
Variance	0.11	.82 0.192	7	1.63	13/10	> 0.2	2 N.S.
Table 10.	A compar between	ison of pop 1965 and 19	ulation m 67 Wooldes	san chias n Place pu	na frequenc opulations.	108	1999. 197
Pop. mean 1965	chiasma fr 1967						
5.21	5,26		0,348		29	> 0.7	N.S.

From the above analysis, it is reasonable to conclude that B chromosomes seem to raise the level of mean chiasma formation of individuals possessing them. This influence of the B chromosomes is found to exist to the same degree in the two geographically isolated populations studied and is constant from one generation to the next.

A comparison of variances between individuals, of -B and +B individuals leads to the following conclusions:

7. There is no significant difference found between variance of -B and +B individuals in all the three populations (Table 11). 8. There is also no significant difference between (a) variance of
-B individuals (b) variance of +B individuals in the two populations
in the 1965 meiotic season (Table 12).

9. The population variance between the two populations in the 1965 meiotic season do not differ significantly (Table 9).

It appears therefore, that although the B chromosomes raised the level of chiasma formation, they did not have any influence on the variance between individuals with respect to chiasma frequencies.

Table 11. A comparison of between-individual variation between

-B and +B individuals.

nighter of the second second	1999-1999-1999-1999-1999-1999-1999-199	hadaa tarjandar tarihintaan	e en antiere de setemation autor (brong		Evidensista de la contraction de la con	and a contraction of the second s	árta Mistrición divez c	and the second
Populati	on		Varia	nce	V.R.	df.		P
ann an the first state of the s			*13	+B		Markan Si Kangana sa		111-2-111-2-11-2-11-2-11-2-11-2-11-2-1
1000 (1000 - 100 -		and in a second s			An ann an Annaichte Chinan Statistichte an Galainn in Alfheid Brain Annaiste	anur mén ini manananal kirkura (baharakan kerakan dari baha	Auronovia crejav rožavi	ALCON CONTRACTOR
Bot. Gar	dens	(65)	0.1670	0.0857	1,95	4/6	>	0.2 N.S.
Woolden	Pl.	(65)	0,1283	0.2479	1.93	7/6	>	0.2 N.S.
Woolden	Pl.	(67)	0.0996	0.2171	2.18	7/9	>	0,1 N.S.
1					· · ·			

<u>Yeble 12</u>. A comparison of between-individual variation between (i) -B and (ii) +B individuals in two populations in 1965 meiotic season

n salitikaji kisi kananana	n an	n and a data and a local data and a subscription of the second second second second second second second second	na destri ender sonstanders det den de state de service de service de service de service de service de service	nan kanan kana Kanan kanan kana	nde andre an	soperation and a second
	Var	iance	V.R.	d£	1	6
	B.G.	W.P.				
÷B	0,1670	0,1283	1,30	4/6	> 0	.2 N.S.
·+·B	0.0857	0,2479	2,89	7/6	> 0	.1 N.S.
	n an tao amin'ny faritr'i Andrews	an a	n ngan karan karan kana ngan ngan nga na karangan karangan karangan karangan karangan karangan karangan karang	ni mirateki manapaishi sabela ana anga	nijos naroda prosional na segundar nag	n an

The log variance (Log V) of chiasma frequencies is calculated for each -B and +B individual. This log V is actually the degree of within-individual variation i.e. the degree of stability of chiasma formation within an individual. From Tables 13-17, the following conclusions are noted:

10. In all the three populations studied, the mean log v among +B individuals do not differ significantly from the corresponding values among +B individuals (Table 13).

11. The mean log v among -B individuals do not differ significantly between the two populations in the 1965 meiotic season. Similarly, the mean log v among +B individuals are not significantly different between the two populations (Table 14).

12. In the Woolden Place population, the mean log v among the -B individuals did not change from the 1965 to the 1967 seasons. The same is also true for +B individuals (Table 15).

13. The population mean log v among all three populations do not differ significantly (Tables 16 and 17).

Table 13. A comparison of mean log v between -B and +B individuals

1999,000 (1999,000) 1999,000	an init saga paga na na sang tang tang tang tang tang tang tang t	and a subscription of the	sen and an and a second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state o	an di kanan di kanan Manan di kanan di kana	en alter i Bersellen i Bersellan i Feredaki en tribaki eta i Barsaki eta izar	erregenous sons	elite and an	an a
Popul	ation	Nean	log v	df	Ċ.		P	
		an IS	n fa St					
etoristi kalininka tereseripan	engenskateringen en der	lagan an a	an a	é statistické skladní konstanty vysate batova	nani isala kasa pesa kana kana kana kana kana kana kana ka	Marchesialarinisa	rijevi otnoracija nje	
Bot.	Gardens 65	-0.4451	-0.2118	20	0.838	>	0,3	N.S.
Woold	en Pl. 65	-0.4626	-0.4885	13	0.0897	>	0.9	N.S.
Woold	en Pl. 67	-0,4465	-0.3102	16	0.621	>	0.5	N.S.
an in the second second	Contractor of Contractor Contractor	nakana wasi ila u panapini din berkingka di kata s	i de fan en de fan in de fan de f	un selan ayan ayan ayan ayan ayan ayan ayan a	n den ser in an andres den andres in strategy and	ana shika kata kata kata	istrational and a	unious de la companya

in three populations in 1965 and 1967.

Table 14. A comparison of mean log v between (i) -B individuals, (ii) +B individuals in two populations in 1965

Gilliothiste	ana ang sanakan na pananan na panananan	n ar an	an a successive free second and a successive specific and the second second second second second second second	ef het joer van de staan oor gebreer op de staan de staan gebreer te staan gebreer te staan gebreer te staan ge	nikeressienes	an a
	Mean	log v	d£	Ċ.		P
ana	<b>B.</b> G.	<b>W. P.</b>	an a division for the game and the constraint of the second states of the second states of the second states of	ala management and a state of the		and and a constant and the second second
·B	-0,4451	-0,4626	10	0.056	>	0.9 N.s.
·B	-0,2118	-0.4885		1.036	>	0.3 N.S.

Table 15. A comparison of mean log v between (1) -B individuals (11) +B individuals in Woolden Place population in two years 1965/67

	Mean	log v	d£			P	
	1965	1.967					
Control of the second	an and an international states and a second states of the second states and the second states and the second st	e en megendelsen för instansaden av Skriveter en att en det en det som et skriveter er på stade	aran kana kana kana kana kana kana kana	ar the construction of the const		en fin andreas and a series of a series of the	oises is divide
<b>-B</b>	•0.4626	-0.4465	15	0.041	>	0.9 N.S.	
+B	-0.4885	-0,3102	14	0.716	>	0.3 N.S.	
ti al <b>a kan</b> i kara awa k	9,000-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00	an a		na na mana na m	tentropositi nelesso or	te den is for Africk Communications and	aligy (SPAC

Table 16. A comparison of population mean log v between two populations in 1965.

Population	mean	d£	t.		P	
B.G.		a line selandet og andre dige neget af det helse selatet og se	Samuadan kabuna mana mana mana mana mana mana mana m	san san san san	Kana laan alaka coopin adal kacimus akaba kana dapara daban daan ya	
-0.3089	-0.4764	25	0.8615	>	0.3 N.S.	
<b></b>	alara nga manangan ngana gina taning ngana pinangan dina ngangan kita kangana kita ngana kita ngana kita ngana	1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - -	ad and in a graph of a state of the state of t	ndarigina dina	na n	

 Table 17.
 A comparison of population mean log v between 1965 and

 1967 Woolden Place populations.

 Population mean log v

 df
 t
 P

 1965.
 1967.

31

0.527

> 0.5 N.S.

B chromosomes do not seem to influence the within-individual variation with respect to chiasma formation in the <u>P. vitattum</u> male. (However, in two populations i.e. Bot. Gardens 1965 and Woolden Pl. 1967, +B individuals have a slightly higher mean log v although these differences are not really significant. It is only in the Woolden Pl. 1965 population that the mean log v among +B individuals is lower than that of among -B individuals. Even then, this difference is extremely small).

# d. DISCUSSION

The effect of B chromosomes on the level of chiasma formation is shown in Figure 3. It can be seen that the +B individuals have a much higher mean chiasma frequency than the -B individuals. It is also clear that the between individual variation is somewhat equal in the two populations (+B and -B).

Baker (1960) working on the grasshopper <u>Myrmeleotettix maculatus</u> reported that B chromosomes raised the chiasma frequencies of

113

-0.4764

-0.3859



Figure 3. Histograms showing chiasma frequency in 22 -B and 23 +B grasshoppers. terni Sant Sant individuals which possessed them. John and Hewitt (1965) who revised the work of Bakar, pointed out that this was not necessarily true. They found that B chromosomes merely raised the mean chiasma frequency of +B individuals and that some +B individuals did have lower chiasma frequencies than a number of -B individuals. Studies of the B chromosome system in <u>P</u>. <u>vitattum</u> support the view presented by John and Hewitt (Table 5). The range of chiasma frequencies in +B individuals is 4.9 - 6.8 and in -B individuals is 4.0 - 5.4. As in <u>M. maculatus</u>, the B chromosomes of <u>P</u>. <u>vitattum</u> seem to cause the breakdown of the control mechanism of chiasma formation resulting in an increase in the mean level of chiasma formation in individuals possessing them.

John and Mewitt (1965) also found that the populations studied differed significantly in mean chiasma frequency and that if +B individuals were omitted from the analysis, the differences were still evident. Similar situations are not found in <u>P. vitattum</u>. The three populations studied show no significant differences in population mean chiasma frequencies and this situation persists when +B individuals are omitted from the analysis.

Between-individual variations with respect to chiasma formation is not significantly affected by the presence of B chromosomes. This suggests the stability of the influence of the B chromosome on the level of chiasma formation. This result is in contrast to that of John and Newitt (1965) who reported an increase in the between-individual variation associated with B chromosomes in M. maculatus.

In <u>P. vitattum</u>, B chromosomes do not seem to have any effect on the within-individual variation with respect to chiasma frequency. Nevertheless, the results (Table 5) do show a trend of increase in this within-individual variation among +B individuals although this increase is not significant. John and Hewitt (1965) reported that the within-individual variation in chiasma frequency showed an increase in the presence of B chromsomes.

The frequency of +B individuals in a population does not seem to have any influence on either the mean chiasma frequency or the withinindividual variation with respect to chiasma frequency. Nowever, more populations are required for study.

## IV. <u>RESIDE</u>

 The frequency of +B individuals among females in the Botanical Gardens population in the 1967 meiotic season is found to be about 0.06.
 Associations between B and X chromosomes during late Prophase I and also Distortional Segregation of B chromosomes with respect to X chromosomes at Anaphase I have been fairly constant, at least in the two meiotic seasons studied (1965/1967).

3. B chromosomes appear to raise the mean chiasma frequency of individuals possessing them. This effect is maintained in the following generations. 4. B chromosomes have no significant influence on the betweenindividual variation with respect to chiasma frequency.

5. The within-individual variation in chiasma frequency i.e. the stability of chiasma formation within an individual, is not influenced by the presence of B chromosomes.

6. The frequency of +B individuals in a population does not influence the mean chiasma frequency or its between-individual variation.

#### LITERATURE CITED FOR SECTION TWO

- BAKER, J.F. 1960. Variation of chiasma frequency in and between natural populations of acrididae. Heredity 14: 211-214.
- BOSEMARK, N.O. 1957a. Further studies of accessory chromosomes in grasses. Mereditas (Lund) 43: 236-297.

1957b. On accessory chromosomes in <u>Festuca pratensis</u> 5. Influence of accessory chromosomes on fertility and vegetative development. Hereditas (Lund) 43: 216-235.

 CHEUNG, D.S.M. 1966. B.Sc. Honours Thesis, Univ. of Tasmania, Hobart.

3.

- FISHER, R.A. and YATES, F. 1948. Statistical Tables for Biological, Agricultural and Medical Research. Oliver and Boyd. Edinburgh 3rd ed.
- FROST, S. 1958. Studies of the genetical effects of accessory chromosomes in <u>Centauria scabiosa</u>. Hereditas (Lund) 44: 112-122.
- DARLINGTON, C.D. and Lika Cour 1960. The handling of chromosomes.
   G. Allen, London.
- JACKSON, R.C. and P. NEWMARK, 1960. Effects of supernumerary chromosomes on production of pigment in <u>Haplopappus</u> gracilis. Science 4: 1316-1317.
- 9. JOHN, B. and G.M. HEWITT, 1965a. The B-chromosome system of <u>Myrmeleotettix maculatus</u> (Thumb) I. The Mechanics. Chromosoma 16: 548-578.
- 10. 1965b. The B-chromosome system in <u>Myrmeleotettix</u> <u>maculatus</u> (Thumb) II. The Statics. Chromosome 17: 121-138.
- 11. KAYANO, H. 1956. Cytogenetic studies in <u>Lilium callosum</u>. II. Preferential segregation of a supernumerary chromosome. Mem. Fac. Sci. Kyushu Univ. Ser. E2: 53-60.
- 1957. Cytogenetic studies in <u>Lilium callosum</u>.
   III. Preferential segregation of supernumerary chromosome in EMCs. Proc. Japan Acad. 33: 7-33.

	13.	KIMURA, M.	and KAYANO, H. 1961. The maintenance of supernumerary chromosomes in wild populations of <u>Lilium callosum</u> by preferential segregation. Genetics 46: 1699-1712.
	14.	LEWIS, A.E.	1966. Biostatistics. Reinhold Publ. Corp. N.Y.
	15.	LEWIS, K.R.	and B. JOHN, 1959. Breakdown and restoration of chromosome stability following inbreeding in a locust. Chromosoma (Berl.) 10: 589-618.
	16.	MELANDER, Y	(. 1950. Accessory chromosomes in animals, especially in <u>Polycelis tenuis</u> . Hereditas (Lund) 36: 261-296.
	17.	MUNTZING, A	A. 1943. Genetical effects of duplicated fragment chromosomes in rye. Hereditas (Lund) 29: 91-112.
	18.		1959. A new category of chromosomes. Proceedings of the 19th Int. Cong. of Gen., 1: 453-467.
	19.	MUR, U. 196	2. A supernumerary chromosome with an accumulation mechanism in the lecanoid genetic system. Chromosoma (Berl.) 13: 249~271.
	20.		1963. A mitotically unstable supernumerary chromosome with an accumulation mechanism in a grasshopper. Chromosoma (Berl.) 14: 407-422.
	21.		1966a. Harmful supernumerary chromosomes in a mealy bug population. Genetics 54: 1225-1238.
	22.		1966b. The effect of supernumerary chromosomes on the development of mealy bugs. Genetics 54: 1239-1249.
;	2.3 a	SHARMAN, G.	B. 1952. The cytology of Tasmanian short-horned grasshopper (Orthoptera: Acridoidea). Proc. Roy. Soc. of Tas. 86: 107-122.
	24.	SNODGRASS,	R.E. 1935. Principles of Insect Physiology. 1st ed. McGraw-Hill N.Y. & London.
	25.	SWANSON, C.	P. 1957. Cytology and Cytogenetics. Prentice-Hall, Inc.
	26.	WHITE, M.J.	D., J. CHENEY & K.H.L. KEY, 1963. A pathenogenetic species of grasshopper with complex structural heterozygosity (Orthoptera: Acridoidea). Aust. J. Zool, 11: 1-19.